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About  
Smiths City 
Group

Smiths City Group (NZX.SCY) was founded in 
Christchurch in 1918 and has a proud tradition 
as one of New Zealand’s oldest and largest 
retail chains. The company floated on the 
stock exchange in 1972 and operates 31  
stores nationwide. 

smithscity.co.nz  I  smithscitygroup.co.nz 
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Up 2.8% reflecting strong growth in 
the online channel and operational 
improvements across the network
(excludes store closures)

$192.0m

2019 Performance 
PR

E 
TA

X 
LO

SS
 O

F

Transformation programme 
continues with the rationalisation of 
the store footprint and investments 
in store formats and systems

Net loss narrows from prior year’s 
$9.9m with the Group benefiting 
from growth in same store sales and 
a strong performance from Smiths 
City Finance

$1.9m

Down 4.4% following store closures 
and slower trading in the second 
half of the financial year

$206.4m



“The challenge remains 
- to better articulate 
our proposition in store 
and online”

Alastair Kerr 
Chair and  
Non Executive Director

Over the last year Smiths City has accelerated its 
transformation, but it is clear that we must continue 
to build resilience in our business to respond to the 
often-variable market conditions. 

In the 12 months to 30 April 2019, same store sales 
(store revenue excluding stores closed during the 
year) rose 2.8% to $192 million from $187 million as 
the group starts to see results from a strategic reset 
initiated in the first half of the financial year.

The online store was the standout performer. It grew 
its sales very strongly to make it one of Smiths City’s 
larger stores. Meanwhile, in the first half of the year 
the company benefitted from a strong contribution 
from its commercial operation, which provides 
furniture and appliances to businesses across the 
country.

However, group revenue for the year fell 4.4% to 
$206.4 million from $215.9 million with the fall largely 
reflecting store closures as part of the broader 
transformation programme to drive the regeneration 
of the Smiths City brand. It also reflected a softening 
in New Zealand retail demand in the second half of 
the year, particularly in Smiths City’s core furniture 
and electronic goods categories.

Group net losses before tax narrowed to $1.9 million 
from $9.9 million in the prior year. Earnings in the 
finance business partially offset the impact of 
weaker trading, the ongoing pressure on margins 
and one-off items of $1.1 million associated with a 
strategic decision to close, and eventually relocate, 
the Wairau Park store on Auckland’s North Shore.

The strong gains we saw in the first half of the year – 
when we celebrated our centenary – have not been 
sustained in the second half. This was particularly 
the case during the crucial Christmas trading period 
and it continued into the remainder of the financial 
year, partly reflecting the softening in house prices 
and consumer confidence.

Chair’s report

Accelerating 
Smiths City’s 
transformation
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It is clear Smiths City must continue to build resilience 
in its business to respond to these variable market 
conditions. Key initiatives this year have included the 
closure of underperforming stores across the country 
and investment in those stores where we see strong 
potential.

Since the end of the financial year this programme 
has included the rationalisation of the Auckland 
footprint. This decision does not diminish our 
commitment to the upper North Island. The 
challenge remains to better articulate our 
proposition in store and online and do so in stores 
that are in the right locations and of a size most 
suitable to that location. In this way we can ensure 
we deliver an offer that resonates with regional 
tastes and plays to our strengths as both a bricks-
and-mortar and online retailer.

At the same time, we must continue to work to 
overcome a legacy of systems, processes and 
values that are not aligned with the aspirations and 
operations of a modern retail brand. The board and 
a refreshed management team are aligned with the 
task we face to return Smiths City to its rightful place 
as New Zealand’s most trusted retailer.

We are a brand that stands for value, integrity, 
honesty and fairness and while there is plenty of 
work to do, we are making progress.

Balance sheet and dividend
As at 30 April 2019 the company had $6.4 million of 
cash on hand, up from the $6.2 million held at the 
same time a year ago and $2.3 million at the end of 
October. Net interest-bearing debt stood at $65.0 
million, up $4.1m on the same time a year ago. The 
increase in debt was used to fund working capital. 
All borrowings are secured against finance company 
receivables.

In light of these results and the continuing need to 
invest in the business, the board retains its view that 
it is not yet appropriate to pay a dividend. The board 
will continue to review Smiths City’s dividend policy 
but at present it believes the company is unlikely to 
resume paying dividends in the current financial year.

Outlook
Retailing is never easy. Large international discount 
and big-box retailers are coming to New Zealand 
and are focused on the attractive upper North Island 
market. Even though the economy is still performing 
strongly and demand for housing is strong, 
consumers remain uncertain.

We understand that, faced with these conditions, 
we must differentiate ourselves by building enduring 
relationships of trust and service and delivering an 
excellent customer experience. Through steady 
investment in infrastructure and systems and people, 
Smiths City is putting in place the foundations 
to support a return to generating sustainable 
improvements in earnings and profits.

 
 

 
Alastair Kerr Chair

$(5.6)m$198.3m
Retail segment revenue, 
down 4.6% 

Retail segment loss, 
reversing the prior 
year’s $11.6m loss



Smith’s City’s 2019 financial year was a game of two 
halves. In the first six months we generated strong 
growth in revenue flowing from the company’s 
centenary celebrations, strong sales in the commercial 
business, and growth in the online channel.

The momentum in sales continued early into the 
second half, reflecting the growing importance of 
Black Friday and Cyber Monday to the Christmas 
trading period. However, it was not maintained for 
the remainder of the period.

The strong trading early in the period came at 
the expense of post-Christmas sales and this was 
compounded by the disruption that followed a 
reset to our sales incentive programme. Margins, 
meanwhile, have remained under pressure, but we 
remain determined to meet the market to maintain 
our share.

Revenue in the 12 months to 30 April 2019 in the retail 
business fell 4.6% to $198.3 million from $207.9 million 
in the same period a year ago, while trading losses 
from retail decreased 51.7% to $5.6 million from $11.6 
million. The losses in the prior year were impacted by 
provisions recognising onerous leases on a number of 
our stores as well as a number of large one-off items.

Store closures also impacted our top line 
performance. We closed stores in Queenstown and 
Gisborne taking the total to 31 from 34 in the same 
period a year ago. These followed on the closure of 
stores in Ngauranga Gorge and Riccarton during the 
prior financial year.

The Auckland stores showed strong revenue and 
profitability improvements over the prior year, 
particularly in appliances, where we successfully 
competed as a new player to the region. Despite 
this, they are not configured as we require in this 
market. Consequently, we decided to exit and 
look to relocate from our Wairau Park location and 
to reduce our footprint of our Mount Wellington 
location. We are working to identify our next sites in 
the Auckland region and expect to announce these 
in the coming months.

Chief Executive’s report

“Building on 101 years 
of our customers 
trusting us is core to 
our success”

Roy Campbell 
Chief Executive

Playing to our 
strengths
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It has now become clear that we can meet demand 
in the region with smaller stores, supported by our 
online presence. Online performs strongly in this 
region reflecting the important role it plays in this 
market in customer fulfilment and allowing easy 
comparison of products and prices.

Across the network, we are working to better 
recognise these regional differences in both 
customer behaviour and tastes and tailor our offer 
accordingly. The Auckland stores, for instance, 
are moving to cater for a much more diverse and 
urbanised population than we see in our South 
Island heartland.

Conversely in our Christchurch stores and many 
across provincial New Zealand, larger stores 
with broader ranges play a much greater role in 
influencing customer behaviour. We have worked to 
improve in-store execution to ensure products are 
well presented with a focus on a “whole of house” 
offer. We have also worked with our people to ensure 
they delight customers, but this is a journey and we 
still have some way to go.

Over the coming year we are looking to back up 
these initiatives with improvements to our systems 
to better understand our customers, to inform our 
buying decisions, our negotiations with suppliers and 
our management of inventory.

Recognising the pivotal role our people play in 
bringing this vision to life we have also continued to 
build our culture and invested in training to ensure 
our people model our values and the spirit of the 
Smiths City brand.

We continue to align our recruitment induction 
and training to our guiding principles of integrity, 
accountability and care. We have refreshed and 
realigned our key performance indicators for our 
staff that align with these principles and the broader 
aspirations of the company.

 
 

Smiths City Finance
Smiths City Finance turned in a creditable 
performance despite the competition that has seen 
interest free finance extending to periods only recently 
seen in the sector. Revenue increased 16.5% to $10.6 
million from $9.1 million in the same period a year ago, 
while trading profits increased 72.4% to $5.0 million 
from $2.9 million in the same period a year ago.

We continue to see strong opportunities to grow the 
finance company by building deeper relationships 
with our customers. Over the coming year we will be 
investing in our finance company system to better 
realise these.

Key goals of the upgrade include: a streamlined 
application and faster approval process; better 
reporting to customers; improved links with customer 
relationship management systems and over the  
longer-term greater personalisation of the finance offer.

Outlook
Our long term success and return to a sustainable 
profit are dependent on the company’s progress 
with four priorities for the year ahead: continuing 
to transform the company culture; gaining a better 
understanding of, and engaging with, our customers; 
making the store network a destination of choice and 
ranging locally, while still taking advantage of our 
national footprint.

Smiths City understands that building on 101 years of 
our customers trusting us is core to our success. We 
must deliver value and a compelling and engaging 
shopping experience that combines the best online 
and bricks-and-mortar retail experience with the 
added value of an in-house finance offer. We must 
continue to build on our strong kiwi heritage and our 
reputation, consistently demonstrating that we are a 
company that our customer can trust.

 
 

 
Roy Campbell Chief Executive 

$5.0m$10.6m
Finance segment 
revenue, up 16.5% 

Finance segment profit, 
up 72.4%



New Zealand’s 
most trusted 
retailer
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Smiths City is on a mission 
to regenerate and become 
New Zealand’s most trusted 
retailer. As we embark on 
our second century of 
trading, we are well placed 
to achieve this goal. We still 
have a way to go on our 
transformation programme,  
but we are making progress 
in all areas.
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What we 
achieved in 
the last year

Key focus 
areas for the 
year ahead 

Invested for the future 
•  We closed underperforming stores.

•  We began to invest in new systems, including a 
revitalised online presence.

•  We are using data better to drive insights to 
first understand and then, better connect with 
our customers with inspiring, personalised and 
relevant offers. 

•  We have launched process improvements to 
drive productivity, our focus on customers and 
improvements in merchandising, online fulfilment, 
and training.

Refining our product range
•  We have focussed more sharply on regional 

differences.

•  Alongside our own direct import programme, 
we’ll continue to buy nationally, leveraging our 
buying power, as well as giving local stores the 
option to range in a way that is best suited to 
local demand. 

•  We have improved inventory accuracy to 
optimise our stock levels to improve productivity 
and reduce working capital.

Invested in our people 
•  We continued to build a culture and brand that 

reflects our heritage and our aspirations for a 
rejuvenated Smiths City. 

•  We transformed our remuneration practices to 
make them fairer and more transparent and 
aligned with the broader aspirations of the 
group.

•  Recruitment, induction, training and succession 
are being aligned with our values and strategy.

Refined our brand identity
•  We refined our brand identity to one that reflects 

our heritage, who we are now and where we are 
going, and to ensure it is fully aligned with the 
culture of the organisation.

•  We are driving consistency in our brand across 
every touchpoint; online, in-store and through our 
customer call centre and finance offer.

Continuing to build our culture
•  Continue to align recruitment, induction 

and training to our guiding principles.

•  Drive the development of key performance 
indicators that measure observable 
behaviour and align to our guiding 
principles.

•  Team and company-based reward and 
recognition.

•  Focus on health and wellbeing.

Understanding and engaging 
our customers
•  Continue to regenerate the Smiths City 

brand. 

•  Introduce and execute a customer 
relationship management system. 

•  Drive the internet store.

•  Invest in the Smiths City Finance systems.

Making our stores 
destinations of choice
• Be proud about every store we operate. 

• Grow the capability of our team. 

•  Innovate and explore new revenue streams.

Buying nationally, ranging locally
•  Leveraging our national scale operation.

•  Products and brands to meet customers’  
needs and local demands. 

•  ‘Whole of home’ solution-based product  
ranges with personalised options to suit 
customers’ needs.

•  Continue to improve inventory accuracy  
to optimise stock levels and improve  
productivity through a data-driven 
 buying model.

•  Drive clear strategies for different  
categories.
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Staying strong in the heartland, growing in the North 
Island and online, getting to know our customers 
even better, and making it easy for them.

We’re setting a solid foundation for the next 100 
years that leverages our heritage and regenerates 
our brand. Smiths City makes its customers lives easy 
by offering great products at great prices, with great 
service. We help our customers to find what they 
need at the price they want to pay.

Our bricks and mortar stores are our heritage 
however we must have a strong presence across 
all channels including online. To truly compete, our 
online shopping experience has got to be as good 
as it is instore.

Online, our customers can now 
expect the same great products 
at great prices, access to help to 
guide their selection and for bigger 
items such as furniture, there’s 
dedicated support to manage the 
order through every step of the 
process, all the way to delivery. 

Pivotal to the customer experience is our  
New Zealand-based call centre, which is focused on 
making it easy for customers to do business with us, 
whether it’s arranging delivery, answering a query or 
giving advice. 

Behind the scenes we have a new software platform 
to support increased online sales. We’re undertaking 
more research and digital marketing to bring a more 
personalised approach to the products that we 
promote to different customer groups, and we’ve 
introduced other flexible payment options. 

Good progress has been made and we are starting 
to see very strong growth in online sales as a result. 

Our store footprint continues to be refined as we 
look for opportunities to strengthen our North Island 
presence right-size existing stores and exit expensive 
lease contracts. We’re focusing on the North Island 
and specifically Auckland for growth but are not 
losing sight of our commitment to the regions. 

Our new-look next generation stores in Hastings 
and Whangarei have a full 12 months’ of trading this 
year and are a successful ‘proof of concept’ for how 
our stores will look in the future. The way that we 
merchandise and display in store is changing too, 
as we improve customer experience and bring more 
colour, life and a sense of theatre into stores. 

‘Room sets’ where we stage a complete room – for 
example a bedroom, complete with bed, furniture, 
linens and lights or a family room with a sectional 
sofa, rugs, cushions, TV, lamps and footstools help 
customers to imagine how these products go 
together, and inspire them to create a similar look.

One way that we cater to regional differences is 
through our product range. We appreciate that 
customers in different parts of the country want 
slightly different things, and we’re flexible enough to 
cater for that. 

We carry a core range that is common to all 
locations, but stock different items in different places 
to cater for local taste. That’s our point of difference 
and why we stock whitebait nets in Greymouth, and 
a furniture range in Auckland that meets the needs 
of a diverse and urbanised population.
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A team that 
cares for  
each other,  
our customers 
and our 
business

“ Caring for our people first 
is core to delighting our 
customers.  
We are continuing to 
develop our remuneration 
structure to be more 
equitable between 
customer facing and non-
customer facing staff, and 
to foster our desired values 
and culture.”
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At the heart of Smiths City is our people; 463 
individuals that come to work every day with the 
simple goal of making things easy for our customers. 
Winning our place as New Zealand’s most trusted 
retailer rests on how well we care for our people, and 
how they in turn, are able to care for customers.

Our company wide transformation programme 
includes a substantial investment in people, culture 
and supporting HR systems. We are taking the best 
of our 100 year heritage of locals helping locals, and 
overlaying modern remuneration, recruitment, and 
training and development policies that are strongly 
aligned to strategy and our cultural aspirations.

Our journey started last year, lifting pay rates to the 
living wage and introducing well-being leave. It is 
important that we reward people fairly for what they 
do, so we took the bold step to move base rates and 
ensure that our people could earn enough money 
without having to worry about how to pay the bills. 
We are also putting systems and support measures 
in place that shift us from being reactive to proactive 
when it comes to supporting our team and their 
health.

Caring for our staff first is core to delighting our 
customers. We are continuing to develop our 
remuneration structure to be more equitable 
between customer facing and non-customer facing 
staff, and to foster our desired values and culture. 
Commission now represents a smaller portion of our 
salespeople’s income and is now a team-based 
scheme linked to individual store performance. 
Across the rest of the business we are creating salary 
bands for specific roles, reflective of skills, experience 
and capability and measured against the market.

This aligns with our refreshed performance 
appraisal system and provides transparency to our 
processes. Also related to this is the development 
of a succession planning framework which helps 
to identify talent and provide career development 
opportunities to our people.

Our new well-being framework is starting to gain 
traction, at a time when well-being is a topic of 
national conversation. Our people have the option 
of taking a day’s paid leave, which is in addition to 
normal holiday entitlements. It is a day for whatever 
they want to do from a well-being perspective. 
So far 44 of our team - roughly ten per cent of our 

workforce - have taken a wellness day in the past 2 
months, and we expect this to increase as we drive 
awareness of this and other wellness initiatives. 

As a good employer, we are proactive in supporting 
specific needs within our team such as individuals 
with personal health or family health challenges. 
Rather than waiting to be asked for help, we talk to 
them about their situation and how we can support 
them - to remain at work or return to work when the 
time is right - depending on their circumstances. By 
trusting, supporting and caring for our people, we 
are modelling the values and spirit of our brand.

We have established clear guiding principles that 
have been shared across the business. The principles 
of care, accountability and integrity inform how we 
interact with our customers, our suppliers and each 
other, and are supported by clear statements of 
behavioural expectations.

Our partnership with Service IQ continues and 
this is backed up by tailored training programs 
focussed on sales training and leadership coaching. 
These programmes are facilitated by our Training 
and Development Manager, a new position to our 
company in 2019, and encompass a Smiths Way 
of Working which is focussed on the customer 
experience.



Managing our impact 
on the environment
Smiths City is committed to restricting its practices 
to those that minimise environmental and social 
impacts. We actively identify practices where any 
effects on the environment can be reduced. We have 
assurances from our suppliers that furniture products 
imported from overseas are manufactured from 
timbers grown in sustainable forests and plantations, 
and not rain forests.

Smiths City supports a 
number of charitable 
organisations and causes 
that care for our communities, 
with a special focus on 
families and children in need. 
We engage and motivate 
our team across our Support 
Offices and nationwide 
store network to support our 
community partners.  
This year we contributed 
nearly $54,000 of cash and 
product to a broad range of 
local and national projects.

Other organisations and causes we supported:

 citymission.org.nz 
 Gumboot Friday 
 Linwood and Al Noor mosques

co
m

m
un

it
y Helping our 

community  
to live better
Supporting our 
communities
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Cure Kids 
Cure Kids is the largest funder of child health research 
outside the government sector. Established by Rotary 
in 1971 as the Child Health Research Foundation, 
Cure Kids has helped save and improve the lives of 
thousands of kids in New Zealand, investing more than 
$40 million in New Zealand research.

Ronald McDonald House 
South Island 
Ronald McDonald House South Island provides free 
accommodation to more than 700 families each year, 
who must travel to Christchurch or Invercargill for their 
child’s medical treatment by removing the stressors of 
everyday life, they ensure families can focus on what 
matters most – their child.

Paula Moore and daughter Grace Moore. The Moore Family, 
from Cromwell in Central Otago, stayed at Ronald McDonald 
House for 133 nights.

“Smiths City works with Cure Kids and its Ambassadors, Mela, 
Hunter, and Corin, to build a brighter future for Kiwi children living 
with heart-breaking health conditions. The funds we raise for them 
all go towards funding vital medical research to make a difference 
to the health of our children.”

Mandy Kennedy CEO

Frances Benge CEO

To find out more:  
rmhsi.org.nz

To find out more: 
curekids.org.nz

“We are incredibly grateful to Smiths 
City for their continued commitment to 
making a measurable impact on child 
health in New Zealand. Smiths City is 
an important partner with Cure Kids; 
their staff are trusted and respected in 
the community and this provides Cure 
Kids with a wonderful platform to raise 
awareness and funds to invest into 
more child health research. From the 
passionate store manager in Kawerau 
to the CEO in Christchurch, Smiths City 
is a team of people who genuinely 
care about making an impact. We’re 
proud to have Smiths City as part 
of the Cure Kids family, helping us to 
find better treatments and cures for 
children who need them most.”

“Since the Christchurch House first 
opened in 2003, Smiths City has 
walked hand-in-hand with our team 
to provide ongoing support to the 
families we serve. From monetary 
donations through to special gifts 
for Mother’s Day and Father’s Day, 
we simply couldn’t do what we do 
without supporters like Smiths City. 
Our gratitude is immense.”

Cure Kids’ funding supports researchers across  
New Zealand whose work focuses on childhood 
cancers, inherited heart conditions, epilepsy, 
infectious diseases, cystic fibrosis, sudden 
unexpected death in infants (SUDI), stillbirth, burns as 
well as child and adolescent mental health –  
and many, many other areas of research.



National reach 
Smiths City is one of New Zealand’s most trusted 
brands. We’ve been providing great customer 
service, a huge range of quality products and 
affordable finance plans for a century. The company 
is listed on the NZX and employs 463 people (as at 
30 April 2019).

Smithscity.co.nz 
Our online channel is central to sales growth and 
the future of the business. It enables customers to 
engage and transact with Smiths City in any way 
they wish. It enhances the customer experience and 
provides new opportunities for our customers to find 
solutions to live better. 

Smiths City Finance 
Consumer finance is an integral part of our service 
model. It allows us to strengthen our relationships 
with our customers and better anticipate their needs. 
It is also a key enabler of the Smiths City proposition 
as it makes higher-value furniture and appliances  
more accessible. Smiths City Finance provides 
a range of point of sale finance options to retail 
customers, including secured fixed instalments, 
revolving credit customer accounts and unsecured 
personal loans to individual customers. 

Our brands 
A core strength of the group is our product offering. 
We are proud to represent many of New Zealand’s 
best-known brands in-store and online, including 
Sleepyhead and Fisher & Paykel, along with leading 
international brands such as La-Z-Boy, John Young 
Furnishings, Ashley, LG, Haier, Samsung, Panasonic, 
Hewlett Packard, Apple, Electrolux, Mitsubishi Electric 
and Bosch, amongst others. We’re also proud 
to support New Zealand manufactured furniture 
produced by Coastwood and Woodpeckers.

Company 
profile

p
ro

fil
es
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Whangarei

North Shore

Tauranga
Opotiki

Blenheim

Timaru

Kaikoura
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Dunedin

Greymouth

Wellington

Christchurch
• Colombo Street
• Northwood
• Outlet Store

• Kapiti
• Porirua
• Lower Hutt

Mt Wellington

Alexandra

Taupo

Whakatane

Hastings

Kawerau

Rotorua

Nelson

Richmond

Wanaka

Palmerston North

Ashburton

Invercargill
Invercargill Clearance Centre

Gore

Established

1918

Annual Revenue

$206.4m
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*as at 30 April 2019

Employees*
463

Stores 
31



Trend statement
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

GROUP FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE ($m) ($m) ($m) ($m) ($m) ($m)

Operating Revenue 220 221.4 221.9 227.4 215.9 206.4

Profit Before Taxation 4.7 8.7 3.1 2.0 (9.9) (1.9)

Add / (Deduct) Taxation Credit / (Expense) (0.6) (1.1) 2.5 0.4 2.7 0.2

Profit After Income Tax 4.1 7.6 5.6 2.4 (7.2) (1.7)

GROUP FINANCIAL POSITION

Assets

Total Trading Assets 78.7 80.0 67.8 66.5 66.5 61.8

Finance Company Assets 73.0 69.9 68.5 66.7 69.0 68.2

Total Assets 151.7 149.9 136.3 133.2 135.5 130.0

Deduct Liabilities

Total Trading Liabilities 48.4 43.3 27.8 27.0 30.3 22.4

Finance Company Liabilities 60.3 57.4 56.2 53.3 60.9 65.0

Total Liabilities 108.7 100.7 84.0 80.3 91.2 87.4

Net Group Assets 43.0 49.2 52.3 52.9 44.3 42.6

Total Trading Assets (As Above) 78.7 80.0 67.8 66.5 66.5 61.8

Net Finance Company Assets

Receivables 72.0 68.7 66.6 63.1 68.2 65.8

Bank 1.0 1.2 1.9 3.6 0.8 2.4

Deduct Borrowings (60.3) (57.4) (56.2) (53.3) (60.9) (65.0)

Net Investment In Finance Company 12.7 12.5 12.3 13.4 8.1 3.2

Total Assets 91.4 92.5 80.1 79.9 74.6 65.0

Deduct Total Trading Liabilities (As Above) 48.4 43.3 27.8 27.0 30.3 22.4

Net Group Assets With Finance  
Company As An Investment 43.0 49.2 52.3 52.9 44.3 42.6

Key Ratios

Net Profit Before Tax To Operating Revenue 2.1% 3.9% 1.4% 0.9% (4.6%) (0.9%)

Net Profit After Tax To Operating Revenue 1.9% 3.4% 2.5% 1.1% (3.3%) (0.8%)

Net Profit After Tax To Opening Net Assets 10.1% 17.7% 11.4% 4.6% (13.6%) (3.8%)

Earnings Per Share – cents 7.7 14.4 10.6 4.5 (13.6) (3.2)

Shareholders’ Funds To Total Assets 28.3% 32.8% 38.4% 39.7% 32.7% 32.8%

Shareholders’ Funds To Assets With Finance

Company As An Investment 47.0% 52.2% 65.3% 66.2% 59.4% 65.5%

Summary Of Returns To Shareholders

Net Dividend Per Share - cents 3.50(1) 3.50(1) 3.50(1) 3.50 1.00 0.00

Imputation Credits - cents 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.36 0.39 0.00

Gross Dividend Per Share - cents 3.50 3.50 3.50 4.86 1.39 0.00

30 April Share Price - cents 56 56 50 71 45 30

Gross Dividend Yield Based on 30 April Share Price 6.25% 6.25% 7.00% 6.85% 3.09% 0.00%

(1) Dividend paid without imputation credits
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Director Profiles

 Antony David Karp B Bus (HONS), MAICD

 Independent Non-Executive Director 
  Member – Audit Committee; Remuneration Committee

Antony Karp joined the Board in June 2018. He holds a number of corporate roles 
including being the CEO and Managing Director of Prezzee, a Sydney based 
fintech that specialises in online gift cards. He is also a corporate adviser to the 
Precision Group and a non executive director of hardware wholesaler the Whites 
Group. Antony began his career in the property industry, working with Jones Lang 
LaSalle in Australia and Asia before moving in to the funds management sector, 
joining BT Funds Management where he ran BT Hotel Group. He then spent 12 
years with the ASX listed Australian department store retailer David Jones before 
joining the Smiths City Board.

 Alastair Gibson Kerr MA (Hons)

 Chair  
  Attend by Invitation – Audit Committee;  

Remuneration Committee

Alastair Kerr joined the Board in December 2017. He is a professional independent 
director and has held many senior executive roles internationally with 
organisations such as Marks and Spencer, Mothercare, Virgin, The Body Shop, 
L’Oreal and Williams Sonoma Inc., in a career spanning 35 years. 

Alastair is currently Chair of Murphy Group, the UK based construction company.  
In New Zealand he Chairs Cognition Education Limited, Vet NZ Limited and  
Paper Plus Limited. 

 Benjamin John Powles LLB, BA

 Independent Non -Executive Director, 
 Chair – Remuneration Committee 
 Member – Audit Committee

Ben Powles joined the Board in December 2017. He started his career with one 
of New Zealand’s largest law firms, before making a switch to high growth 
technology companies. His executive career includes senior management roles 
in the telecommunications, finance and energy industries. Until recently Ben was 
the CEO of one of Australasia’s most successful home-grown online retailers, 
World Front/Fishpond.

 Tony Donald Allison B Com, BA, CA, CMINSTD

 Independent Non-Executive Director  
 Chair – Audit Committee 
 Member – Remuneration Committee

Tony Allison joined the Board in June 2016. He is the former CEO of Night ‘n Day 
and is now an independent professional director and consultant, serving on 
multiple boards, including Delta Utility Services Limited and Dunedin International 
Airport Limited. Tony is a Chartered Accountant and a Chartered Member of 
the Institute of Directors. His executive career includes senior positions in large 
accounting and legal firms along with a major construction and development 
company.



Executive  
Management Profiles

 Roy Campbell MBA, DIP. BUS.MKTG

  Chief Executive

Roy joined Smiths City in May 2015, bringing to the Group more than 30 years 
experience and expertise in change management within large, multi-site retail, 
wholesale and FMCG operations.

Having worked across markets in New Zealand, UK, Eastern Europe and the USA, 
Roy has an extensive history of achieving tangible financial and operational 
results through the successful restructuring of organisations. He provides clear 
strategic direction in the planning and delivering of effective implementation 
strategies, resulting in improved ROIs.

 Michael Hindmarsh B Com

  Chief Financial Officer

Michael joined the Group in April 2019. He has had an extensive career in 
retail having spent more than 15 years with the NZ retailer Hallenstein Glasson 
Holdings. Michael has a strategic focus and excellent communication skills. He 
possesses strong management, financial accounting and business planning 
experience and has an excellent understanding of functional dependencies 
across a business. He thrives on coaching and mentoring people to help 
them achieve their goals. Michael is a member of the New Zealand Institute of 
Chartered Accountants.

 Tony Kingston 
 General Manager Merchandise 

Tony joined Smiths City in April 2018. With more than 20 years experience in 
retail, Tony has held senior merchandise roles within iconic retailers such as The 
Warehouse Group, Farmers, Sleepyhead, Retravision and Dick Smith Electronics. 
Trained in motivational, collaborative and flexible leadership, Tony is passionate 
about making a difference for both customers and team members, with a proven 
track record of delivering results over and above expectations.

 Peter Dickie MBA, B Com, B Arts 
  General Manager Marketing 

Pete joined Smiths City in January 2016. He is a qualified, successful and highly 
regarded professional marketer with more than 20 years experience gained 
across a diverse range of industries, categories and brands. Prior to joining 
Smiths City he held senior marketing roles at Kathmandu, Pernod Ricard NZ and 
Cerebos Greggs.
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 John Mander B Com, CA 

 General Manager Smiths City Finance 

John joined the Group in June 2017 to lead Smiths City Finance, bringing more 
than 30 years experience in finance and accounting roles, specialising in 
financial services. A chartered accountant and initially trained in a Big Four firm, 
John has performed finance roles as a senior executive in a listed company, 
followed by more than 15 years in consumer financial services, including leading 
the development of a successful consumer finance business as Chief Executive.

 Adam Doocey BSC (Mathematics, Computer Science) 

 Chief Information Officer 

Adam joined Smiths City Group in June 2017. He is a senior IS leader with 
more than 20 years experience gained across New Zealand businesses and 
government departments. Prior to joining Smiths City Group, he spent more 
than 10 years specialising in retail systems, during which time he led a variety 
of teams servicing several well-known New Zealand brands. Adam also spent 
several years leading software development teams in the logistics industry. Adam 
is highly skilled in leading teams through organisational change and delivering 
operational efficiency.

 Valerie Wright BA Bus.Psych 

  Group Human Resources Manager 

Valerie joined Smiths City in August 2015. She is a senior professional HR 
practitioner with more than 20 years operational and strategic experience, 
gained across a broad range of industries including health and professional 
services. Valerie is highly skilled and experienced in corporate HR, organisational 
development and health and safety management and implementation.

 Dean Smith 
 General Manager Logistics 

Dean has worked with Smiths City Group for the past 21 years, with a retail 
career that spans almost three decades. Over this time Dean has consistently 
developed and progressed within the logistics area toward his current senior 
leadership management position and responsibilities. He has a broad range 
of valuable experience, from his time in retail sales to store management roles 
within the apparel industry, to his career with logistics for the Group.

 Scott Dawson Post Graduate Diploma of Business Administration

 General Manager Operations

Scott joined the Group in early 2019, following 19 years with Warehouse Group 
over two key roles. He began his career with Warehouse Stationery, where over 
15 years he held a number of increasingly senior roles culminating in regional 
and operational management, with overall responsibility for 14 stores and a 
workforce of 180. Scott was then promoted to a role with The Warehouse where 
he had operations management responsibility for 13 stores across both brands. 
Scott has broad experience in the fast moving retail sector and is highly skilled 
in bringing strategy to life, influencing culture and performance and driving 
operational productivity improvements. 



Corporate Governance
The Board is committed to conducting the company’s business ethically and in accordance with high standards of 
corporate governance. The primary purpose of the Board is the survival and wellbeing of the company; and to build 
long term shareholder value with due regard to other stakeholder interests.

It does this by guiding strategic direction and focusing on issues critical for its successful executive.

This governance statement outlines the company’s main corporate governance practices as at 30 April 2019.

Compliance
The ordinary shares of the Smiths City Group Limited (the “Group” or “company”) are listed on the New Zealand Stock 
Exchange (“NZX”). The company seeks to follow the best-practice recommendations for listed companies to the 
extent that it is appropriate to the size and nature of the Group’s operations.

The company considers its governance practices largely complied with the NZX Corporate Governance Code (the 
Code) for the year ended 30 April 2019. During September 2018 a refreshed Board was voted in. Since then the Board 
has embarked on reviewing and updating its governance documents and has approved the Board charter, the audit 
and risk committee charter and the terms of reference for the remuneration and people committee.

These documents plus many of the company’s policies are now available on the group website:  
www.smithscitygroup.co.nz/investors/ 

During the first half of this coming year the company will set up a separate Risk Committee. This Committee will be 
chaired by A D Karp and comprise members T D Allison and B J Powles, with A G Kerr by invitation. This committee will 
include Health and Safety as part of its responsibilities.

Further work in the current year will also be done on formal policies for takeover procedures and on the Nominations 
Committee Charter. 

The structure of this section of the Annual Report reflects the NZX Corporate Governance Code Principles.

PRINCIPLE 1 – ETHICAL STANDARDS
Directors should set high standard of ethical behaviour, model this behaviour and hold management accountable 
for delivering those standards throughout the company.

The Board of Directors of Smiths City Group Limited recognise the need for the highest standards of Corporate 
Governance practice and ethical conduct. The Group’s Corporate Governance processes are consistent with the 
NZX Corporate Governance Code and its recommendations. A Code of Ethics is in place for the Group’s Directors 
and employees.

Share Trading Protocol
The company has adopted a formal procedure governing the sale and purchase of the company’s securities by 
Directors and employees. All Directors and employees must also act in accordance with this procedure and the 
requirements of the Financial Markets Conduct Act 2013 (FMCA).

The procedure (which is also subject to the requirements of the Financial Markets Conduct Act 2013 (FMCA)) requires 
employees to obtain the written consent of a Director, or in the case of a Director, of the Chairman of the Board, 
prior to trading in the company’s shares. Generally, this consent will only be given in respect of trading in the 60 day 
period following the announcement of the company’s half year and annual results.

Use of Company Information
During the year the Board did not receive any notices from Directors of the company requesting the use of company 
information received in their capacity as Directors which would otherwise not have been available to them.
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PRINCIPLE 2 – BOARD COMPOSITION AND 
PERFORMANCE
To ensure an effective Board, there should be a balance of independence, skills, knowledge, experience and 
perspectives.

Role of the Board of Directors
The Board is appointed by shareholders to govern the company in their interests and is responsible for the proper 
direction and control of the company’s activities. Being responsible for the overall stewardship of the company the 
Board has particular focus on:-

• Commercial Performance and Strategy Development

• Financial and Dividend Policies including preparation of annual financial statements

• Identification and Control of Business Risks

• Internal Control Systems

•  Compliance with New Zealand laws, regulations, the listing rules (including continuous disclosure regime), 
professional standards and contractual obligations

• Business Plans and Budgets

• Delegations of Authority

• Identification and Control of Business Opportunities

• Integrity of Management Information Systems

• Reports to Shareholders and other key Stakeholders

• Evaluation of Director, Board and Committee performance

The Board has delegated day to day management of the company to the Chief Executive Officer and the senior 
team of the company. Operational and administrative policies are in place and the company has both internal and 
external audit systems for monitoring the company’s operational policies and practices.

The Chairman and Chief Executive determine the agenda for Board meetings. On a monthly basis, the Board 
receives operational reports summarising the company’s activities against key performance indicators. In addition, 
the Board receives regular briefings from the management team on key strategic and performance issues either 
as part of regular Board meetings or in specific briefing sessions. The Board are kept fully appraised of developing 
issues that may impact company operation.

Board Composition
The Board currently comprises four Directors including the Chairman.  

The company’s constitution sets out policies and procedures on the operation of the Board including the 
appointment and removal of Directors. The NZX Listing Rules and the company’s constitution provide that a minimum 
of three Directors is required, of whom at least two shall be independent. Currently the Board comprises four 
Directors, being Non-Executive Chairman, and three independent non-Executive Directors.

The Board acknowledged the importance of independent Directors in ensuring an optimal balance between Board 
members who are able to bring a wide range of business experience and skills, and those with direct company 
knowledge and operational responsibility.  

Pursuant to NZX Listing Rule 2.3.2, the company is required to make an announcement to the market advising the 
closing date for Director nominations. That announcement must be no less than ten business days prior to the 
closing date and the closing date must be not more than two months prior to the Annual meeting.

Independent Directors
The New Zealand Stock Exchange has determined that a component of good governance is the identification of 
independent directors. The Board has resolved that T D Allison, A G Kerr, B J Powles and A D Karp are defined as 
independent.

Group Management Structure
The Group’s organisation structure is focused on its two main activities: retail trading and the provision of consumer 
finance to support and enhance the retail activities. This delivers an organisation that is focused on both the  
key activities of the company.



Director Training
The Group provides relevant training opportunities for the Directors as required.

Gender Composition of Directors and Officers
A breakdown of gender composition of Directors and Officers as at April 2018 is shown below:

Female Male

Directors – as at 30.4.19 0 4

Officers* 1 8

• An Officer is defined as the members of the senior management team, who report either directly to the Board or to 
the Chief Executive Officer.

The Group’s Diversity and Equal Employment Opportunity policy can be found on this website www.smithscitygroup.
co.nz/investors/

PRINCIPLE 3 – BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board should use committees where this would enhance its effectiveness in key areas, while still retaining Board 
responsibility.

Committees
To enhance efficiency the Board has delegated some of its duties to Board committees and other powers to the 
Chief Executive. The Chief Executive has in turn formally delegated certain authorities to his direct reports and has 
established a formal process for his direct reports to further delegate.

The Board has an Audit Committee, a Remuneration Committee and a Nomination Committee which meet as 
required. The terms of reference for the Committees are the responsibility of the entire Board, and management 
attend the Committee meetings by invitation.  

Audit Committee; 
Chairman; T D Allison  
Members; B J Powles, A D Karp, and A G Kerr by invitation

The Audit Committee is responsible to the Board for the appointment of the external auditors. It also monitors both 
the internal and external audit functions. In addition, the auditors are also able to (and do) communicate directly 
with the Chairman of the Audit Committee at any time.

The Committee recommends the adoption of the Annual Report and Financial Statements to the Board. In addition, 
the Committee is responsible for ensuring that the Group has effective internal controls.  

The Audit Committee also addresses taxation matters pertaining to the Group and ensures the Group complies with 
all relevant taxation legislation.

Nomination Committee; 
Chairman; A G Kerr  
Members; T D Allison, A D Karp, and B J Powles

The Nomination Committee is responsible for selecting appropriate nominees for election as Directors.  

Remuneration Committee; 
Chairman; B J Powles  
Members; T D Allison, A D Karp, and A G Kerr by invitation

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for ensuring that fees paid to Directors and senior employees assist 
in attracting and maintaining talented and motivated Directors and senior employees as a way of enhancing the 
performance of the company and the value for shareholders. This Committee covers Health and Wellbeing of 
Directors and employees and is responsible for setting and reviewing the human resources structure, strategy and 
policy for the company. It reviews the performance of the Chief Executive and senior executives.
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Attendance At Meetings
Directors attended the following meetings during the year:

BOARD MEETINGS

No of meetings No attended

C D Boyce (retired 25.5.18) 8 1

S Henderson (retired 30.6.18) 8 1

T D Allison 8 8

A G Kerr 8 8

B J Powles 8 8

A D Karp (appointed to Board 8.6.18) 8 7

The Remuneration Committee met during the year – in conjunction with Board meetings. 
The Nomination Committee met during the year – in conjunction with Board meetings.  

PRINCIPLE 4 – REPORTING AND DISCLOSURE
The Board should demand integrity in financial reporting and in the timeliness and balance of corporate 
disclosures.

Financial Reporting
The Audit Committee oversees the quality and integrity of external financial reporting including the accuracy, 
completeness and timeliness of financial statements, and disclosure of any material exposure to key risks including 
environmental, economic and social sustainability risks.

It reviews half yearly and annual financial statements and makes recommendations to the Board concerning 
accounting policies, areas of judgement, compliance with accounting standards, stock exchange and legal 
requirements, and the results of external and internal audit.

Timely and Balanced Disclosure
The Group considers that shareholders and the investment market generally should be promptly informed of all 
major business events that influence the company and to ensure compliance with NZX Continuous Disclosure 
requirements.

The Board is responsible for making decisions on what should be disclosed publicly, and has a continuous disclosure 
policy.

The Group aims to manage its businesses in a way that will produce positive outcomes for all stakeholders including 
the public, customers, team members, suppliers and shareholders.

The Group monitors progress in business sustainability as it seeks to actively improve the social and environmental 
characteristics of the business. This is a goal to which the Group is strategically committed and which it incorporates 
in its day to day operations.

PRINCIPLE 5 – REMUNERATION
The remuneration of Directors and executives should be transparent, fair and reasonable.

Remuneration and Benefits
The Board seeks independent advice before recommending to shareholders any increase in the maximum level of 
Directors’ fees payable.   

The Directors’ fees are currently a maximum of $314,000 as approved at the 2015 Annual Meeting of shareholders, 
where the Directors chose not to apply the CPI increase from 2014.

The fees paid to Directors for services in their capacity as Directors during the year ended 30 April 2019 were: 



Annual  
Director’s Fees Other Services

Total  
Remuneration Paid

INDEPENDENT NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

C D Boyce (retired 25.5.18) 90,000 – 7,500

S Henderson (retired 30.6.18) 56,500 – 8,917

T D Allison 68,500 – 68,500

• Appointed to Audit Committee 16.6.17

• To Audit Chair 29.9.17

A G Kerr 105,000 - 99,458

• Appointed to Board 19.12.17

• To Audit Committee 16.3.18

• To Chairman 1.6.18

B J Powles 58,500 - 57,667

• Appointed to Board 19.12.17

A D Karp 53,500 - 49,042

• Appointed to Board 8.6.18

291,084

Director fees are set based on relative responsibilities and time required.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION  
The remuneration of the Group Chief Executive Officer for the year ended 30 April 2019 was:

Salary Kiwisaver Other benefits Incentive Total Remuneration

509,709 15,291 6,421 0 531,420

The remuneration of the Group Chief Executive Officer comprises fixed and performance payments.  Fixed 
remuneration includes a base salary, contributions to kiwisaver and health insurance. There is a performance 
component of up to $150,000 which is linked to the group’s performance against set key performance indicator 
targets which are set by the board.  No incentives were paid out during the year.

PRINCIPLE 6 – RISK MANAGEMENT
Directors should have a sound understanding of the key risks faced by the business. The Board should regularly 
verify that the entity has appropriate processes that identify and manage potential and relevant risks.

Risk Identification and Management
The Group has a formal Risk Management Plan to identify areas of significant business risk and implement 
procedures to effectively manage those risks. The Risk Management Plan has an emphasis on:

•  Operational Risks: risks associated with the company’s normal business operations, including normal day to day 
exposures relating to customers, stores, employees, systems, suppliers, health and safety in the work place and 
regulatory bodies;

•  Funding Risks: risks associated with the funding of the company’s operations, including exposures relating to 
investment of surplus cash, and to interest rate and exchange movements;

•  Environmental Risks: risks associated with the environment in which the Group operates, including exposures to 
natural disasters and to changes in social trends, economic conditions and customer preferences; and

•  Strategic Risks: risks associated with company initiatives that are outside the normal course of business, including 
exposures relating to initiatives to expand into new brands, markets, regions and business activities and to adopt 
new systems.

Where appropriate, the Board obtains advice directly from external advisers. Once a significant business risk is 
identified, the Board is advised and action is taken promptly to mitigate and monitor or, if there are benefits to be 
obtained, take advantage of these in addressing the risk.

Indemnities and Insurance
The company has effected Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance and Statutory Liabilities and Defence Costs 
Insurance on behalf of the Directors and Officers. The company has also entered into indemnities with Directors and 
Officers as required by the company’s constitution. The insurance and indemnity do not cover liabilities arising from 
criminal action.  Directors have completed Certificates of Indemnity and Insurance as required by Section 162 of the 
Companies Act 1993.
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PRINCIPLE 7 – AUDITORS
The Board should ensure the quality and independence of the external audit process.

Approach to Audit Governance
The independence of the external auditor is of particular importance to shareholders and the Board. The Audit 
Committee is responsible for overseeing the external audit of the company. Accordingly, it monitors developments in 
the areas of audit and threats to audit independence, to ensure its policies and practices are consistent with emerging 
best practice in these areas.

The Board has adopted a policy on audit independence, the key elements of which are:

•  The external auditor must remain independent of the company at all times and comply with the New Zealand 
Institute of Chartered Accountants (NZICA) Code of Ethics;

•  The external auditor must monitor its independence and report to the Board that it has remained independent;

•  Guidelines in relation to the provision of non audit services by the external auditor in order that the provision of such 
services does not impair the external auditors independence or objectivity;

•  The audit firm may be permitted to provide non audit services that are not considered to be in conflict with the 
preservation of the independence of the auditor subject to the approval of the company’s Audit Committee in 
accordance with its charter; and

•  The Audit Committee must approve significant permissible non audit work assignments that are awarded to an 
external auditor.

Internal audit functions include review of key transactions within the Group, and Finance Company procedures.

In addition various internal monitoring is in place around items of control such as identification of suspicious activity 
including potential Money Laundering transactions.

Engagement of the External Auditor
The Group’s external auditor is KPMG. KPMG was appointed by shareholders at the 2018 Annual Meeting in accordance 
with the provisions of the Companies Act 1993 (Act).

Attendance at the Annual Meeting
KPMG, as auditor of the 2019 financial statements, has been invited to attend this year’s annual meeting and will 
be available to answer questions about the conduct of the audit, preparation and content of the auditors’ report, 
accounting policies adopted by Smiths City Group Limited and the independence of the auditor in relation to the 
conduct of the audit.

PRINCIPLE 8 – SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS
The Board should foster constructive relationships with shareholders that encourage them to engage with the company.

The company values its dialogue with institutional and private investors and is committed to giving all shareholders 
comprehensive timely and equal access to information about its activities.

The Board aims to ensure that shareholders are informed of all information necessary to assess the Board’s 
performance. They do so through a communication strategy which includes:

• Periodic and continuous disclosure to NZX;

• Reporting of Half yearly and annual results and through the publication of the Annual Report;

•  The annual shareholders’ meeting and any other meetings called to obtain approval for Board actions as 
appropriate; and

• The company’s website.

In accordance with the New Zealand Companies Act and NZX Listing Rules, the company is no longer required to 
automatically mail a hard copy of its annual reports to shareholders.

The Board has moved to electronic reporting. Even though annual reports are available electronically, shareholders can 
request a hard copy of the report to be mailed to them free of charge.

The Notice of Meeting is circulated at least 28 days before the meeting and is also posted on the company’s website.

Shareholders are provided with notes on all the resolutions proposed through the notice of meeting each year.  
Directors and the company’s external auditor are available to answer shareholder questions. The Board encourages 
full participation of shareholders to ensure a high level of accountability and identification with the company’s 
strategies and goals.
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© 2019 KPMG, a New Zealand partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent 
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the shareholders of Smiths City Group Limited 

Report on the consolidated financial statements 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements of Smiths City Group Limited 
(the company) and its subsidiaries (the group) on 
pages 36 to 69: 

i. present fairly in all material respects the Group’s 
financial position as at 30 April 2019 and its 
financial performance and cash flows for the 
year ended on that date; and 

ii. comply with New Zealand Equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards and 
International Financial Reporting Standards. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements which comprise: 

— the consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 30 April 2019; 

— the consolidated  statements of comprehensive 
income, changes in equity and cash flows for 
the year then ended; and 

— notes, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 

 Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) (‘ISAs (NZ)’). We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

We are independent of the group in accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) Code of 
Ethics for Assurance Practitioners issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board and the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA 
Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the 
IESBA Code.  

Our responsibilities under ISAs (NZ) are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements section of our report. 

Our firm has also provided other services to the group in relation to agreed upon procedures for a subsidiary. 
Subject to certain restrictions, partners and employees of our firm may also deal with the group on normal terms 
within the ordinary course of trading activities of the business of the group. These matters have not impaired our 
independence as auditor of the group. The firm has no other relationship with, or interest in, the group.  

 Materiality 

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. Materiality helped us to determine the 
nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually 
and on the consolidated financial statements as a whole. The materiality for the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole was set at $400,000 determined with reference to a benchmark of group Revenue. In 
our view this represents a more stable measure of Group performance.  
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the shareholders of Smiths City Group Limited 

Report on the consolidated financial statements 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements of Smiths City Group Limited 
(the company) and its subsidiaries (the group) on 
pages 36 to 69: 

i. present fairly in all material respects the Group’s 
financial position as at 30 April 2019 and its 
financial performance and cash flows for the 
year ended on that date; and 

ii. comply with New Zealand Equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards and 
International Financial Reporting Standards. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements which comprise: 

— the consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 30 April 2019; 

— the consolidated  statements of comprehensive 
income, changes in equity and cash flows for 
the year then ended; and 

— notes, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 

 Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) (‘ISAs (NZ)’). We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

We are independent of the group in accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) Code of 
Ethics for Assurance Practitioners issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board and the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA 
Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the 
IESBA Code.  

Our responsibilities under ISAs (NZ) are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements section of our report. 

Our firm has also provided other services to the group in relation to agreed upon procedures for a subsidiary. 
Subject to certain restrictions, partners and employees of our firm may also deal with the group on normal terms 
within the ordinary course of trading activities of the business of the group. These matters have not impaired our 
independence as auditor of the group. The firm has no other relationship with, or interest in, the group.  

 Materiality 

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. Materiality helped us to determine the 
nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually 
and on the consolidated financial statements as a whole. The materiality for the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole was set at $400,000 determined with reference to a benchmark of group Revenue. In 
our view this represents a more stable measure of Group performance.  

 

 
 
 
 

   
   
 

 Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements in the current period. We summarise below those matters and our key 
audit procedures to address those matters in order that the shareholders as a body may better understand the 
process by which we arrived at our audit opinion. Our procedures were undertaken in the context of and solely 
for the purpose of our statutory audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a whole and we do not 
express discrete opinions on separate elements of the consolidated financial statements 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

Inventory management – impact on the carrying value of inventory ($34.8 million – refer to note 11) 

The Group stocks an extensive range 
of inventory items with varying 
margins. The Group’s strategy 
continues to focus on the level, mix 
and range of inventory on hand.  
 
The carrying value of inventory is 
considered a key audit matter due to 
the significance of inventory value to 
the Group’s operating performance, 
the range of inventory items and the 
continued heavy competition 
including online offerings in the retail 
market.  
 
The possible impairment of inventory 
is inherently subjective due to the 
changes in product mix with varying 
margins, intense market competition 
and lower than expected Christmas 
trading season performance in the 
current year. Additionally, inventory 
includes electronics which are 
subject to increased risk surrounding 
the future recoverability due to 
technology advances in future 
products. 

 

Our audit procedures included: 

— Challenging the methodology applied to calculate the provision for 
inventory impairment. We have assessed the key assumptions 
being last sale date, last stock receipt date and product category. 
We identified a portion of inventory not subject to the provision 
methodology, resulting in an insignificant increase in the provision 
which was not adjusted.    

— For a sample of inventory products, comparing the latest actual 
sales price subsequent to year end or during FY19, to the weighted 
average cost of the item (being the method of costing used by the 
Group). This identified no instances where the net realisable value 
for significant inventory items was less than cost, which were not 
considered within the provision.  

— For all inventory products, comparing the actual sales quantity 
during the financial year, to the inventory quantity on hand at year 
end. This identified no instances of material inventory items which 
were not considered within the provision, where the inventory 
quantity on hand exceeded inventory turnover for the year.  

— Assessing the level of inventory provisions at year end and found 
them to be comparable to actual losses recognised during the 
current and historical years. 

Consumer finance offering – impact on the carrying value of financial receivables ($65.8 million – refer 
to note 12) 

Providing consumer finance offering 
remains a strategic product of the 
Group in the extension of the retail 
transaction with customers.  
 
The carrying value of the Group’s 
finance receivables is subject to 
complexities inherent in determining 
the amount recognised:  
— a number of different finance 

arrangements are offered to 
remain competitive in the 
market and best resonate with 
customers to facilitate retail 

Our audit procedures included: 

— Evaluating the standard terms and conditions of the finance 
agreements. We found that the recognition of finance receivables 
reflects these terms and conditions.  

— Evaluating procedures at the origination of finance receivables. We 
found that sufficient information is being captured on the borrower 
and also that there is a process for completing credit checks.  

— Comparing market interest rates for similar finance receivables to 
assess the requirement for any adjustment to carrying value on 
initial recognition. No adjustment was required as the interest rate 



 

 
 
 
 

   
   
 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

sales, including some with 
interest free and deferred 
payment periods; 

— when a finance receivable 
agreement is entered into 
management are required to 
make an assessment of whether 
the interest rate terms of the 
agreement represent market 
rates. To the extent that the 
interest rate is lower than the 
market rate, the carrying value 
of the finance receivable is 
reduced to reflect this; and  

— assessment of the estimate 
future cash receipts through the 
expect life of the finance 
receivables, to calculate the 
provision for non-collectability.  

on finance receivables was reflective on the market rate for 
comparative products.  

— Comparing the current year’s aging profile of overdue finance 
receivables against prior years to ensure that the credit quality had 
not significantly deteriorated. Then comparing the level of historical 
loss rates on finance receivables against the current year 
impairment provision. We did not identify any material issues or 
exceptions from our procedures.  

— Evaluating management’s methodology and assumptions 
associated with interest recognition of finance receivables with 
interest free periods. We did not identify any material adjustments. 

— Evaluating management’s methodology and assumptions 
associated with the impairment provision and the determination of 
expected credit losses. We did not identify any material 
adjustments, which are not reflected in the financial statements.  

Operating of IT systems and controls 

The Group is dependent on IT 
systems for the processing and 
recording of a large volume of daily 
transactions, including finance 
receivables.  
 
Given this, there are some areas of 
our audit where we seek to place 
reliance on IT system, automated 
controls, and system generated 
reports.  
 
The ability to rely on IT is dependent 
on the Group’s general IT 
environment being designed, 
implemented, and operating 
effectively. This includes controls 
relevant to system changes and 
development, IT operations, 
developer and user access controls.  
 

As a result of the inability to rely on the IT systems, we were required 
to revise our audit approach from a controls basis to a purely 
substantive tested basis. The impact of this change in approach 
included, amongst others: 

— Performing substantive tests over the accuracy of system 
generated reports for finance receivable and trade receivables 
aging, which are keys input for the Group’s provisions for 
impairment.  

— Performing substantive testing over related significant financial 
statement balances of finance receivables where required to 
support our audit, specifically the existence of originated finance 
receivables at the reporting date.  

— Performing recalculations of weighted average cost from system 
generated reports for inventory.  

Based on the procedures performed we concluded that the reported 
trade receivable, finance receivable and inventory amounts are 
reasonably stated.  

 Other information 

The Directors, on behalf of the group, are responsible for the other information included in the entity’s Annual 
Report. Other information may include the Chairman and Chief Executive’s review, company profile and 
disclosures related to corporate governance. Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not 
cover any other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

The Annual Report is expected to be made available to us after the date of the Independent Auditor’s Report. Our 
responsibility is to read the Annual Report when it becomes available and consider whether the other information 
it contains is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit, or otherwise appear misstated. If so, we are required to report such matters to the Directors.  
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The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

sales, including some with 
interest free and deferred 
payment periods; 

— when a finance receivable 
agreement is entered into 
management are required to 
make an assessment of whether 
the interest rate terms of the 
agreement represent market 
rates. To the extent that the 
interest rate is lower than the 
market rate, the carrying value 
of the finance receivable is 
reduced to reflect this; and  

— assessment of the estimate 
future cash receipts through the 
expect life of the finance 
receivables, to calculate the 
provision for non-collectability.  

on finance receivables was reflective on the market rate for 
comparative products.  

— Comparing the current year’s aging profile of overdue finance 
receivables against prior years to ensure that the credit quality had 
not significantly deteriorated. Then comparing the level of historical 
loss rates on finance receivables against the current year 
impairment provision. We did not identify any material issues or 
exceptions from our procedures.  

— Evaluating management’s methodology and assumptions 
associated with interest recognition of finance receivables with 
interest free periods. We did not identify any material adjustments. 

— Evaluating management’s methodology and assumptions 
associated with the impairment provision and the determination of 
expected credit losses. We did not identify any material 
adjustments, which are not reflected in the financial statements.  

Operating of IT systems and controls 

The Group is dependent on IT 
systems for the processing and 
recording of a large volume of daily 
transactions, including finance 
receivables.  
 
Given this, there are some areas of 
our audit where we seek to place 
reliance on IT system, automated 
controls, and system generated 
reports.  
 
The ability to rely on IT is dependent 
on the Group’s general IT 
environment being designed, 
implemented, and operating 
effectively. This includes controls 
relevant to system changes and 
development, IT operations, 
developer and user access controls.  
 

As a result of the inability to rely on the IT systems, we were required 
to revise our audit approach from a controls basis to a purely 
substantive tested basis. The impact of this change in approach 
included, amongst others: 

— Performing substantive tests over the accuracy of system 
generated reports for finance receivable and trade receivables 
aging, which are keys input for the Group’s provisions for 
impairment.  

— Performing substantive testing over related significant financial 
statement balances of finance receivables where required to 
support our audit, specifically the existence of originated finance 
receivables at the reporting date.  

— Performing recalculations of weighted average cost from system 
generated reports for inventory.  

Based on the procedures performed we concluded that the reported 
trade receivable, finance receivable and inventory amounts are 
reasonably stated.  

 Other information 

The Directors, on behalf of the group, are responsible for the other information included in the entity’s Annual 
Report. Other information may include the Chairman and Chief Executive’s review, company profile and 
disclosures related to corporate governance. Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not 
cover any other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

The Annual Report is expected to be made available to us after the date of the Independent Auditor’s Report. Our 
responsibility is to read the Annual Report when it becomes available and consider whether the other information 
it contains is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit, or otherwise appear misstated. If so, we are required to report such matters to the Directors.  

 

 
 
 
 

   
   
 

 Use of this independent auditor’s report 

This independent auditor’s report is made solely to the shareholders as a body. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the shareholders those matters we are required to state to them in the 
independent auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept 
or assume responsibility to anyone other than the shareholders as a body for our audit work, this independent 
auditor’s report, or any of the opinions we have formed.   

 Responsibilities of the Directors for the consolidated financial 
statements 
The Directors, on behalf of the company, are responsible for: 

— the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting practice in New Zealand (being New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards) and International Financial Reporting Standards; 

— implementing necessary internal control to enable the preparation of a consolidated set of financial 
statements that is fairly presented and free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and 

— assessing the ability to continue as a going concern. This includes disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements 

Our objective is: 

— to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and 

— to issue an independent auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs NZ will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of these consolidated financial statements is located at 
the External Reporting Board (XRB) website at:http://www.xrb.govt.nz/standards-for-assurance-
practitioners/auditors-responsibilities/audit-report-1/  This description forms part of our independent auditor’s 
report. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Peter Taylor.   

For and on behalf of 

 

KPMG 
Christchurch 

1 July 2019 

 

 



Smiths City Group Limited  
Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Performance For The Year Ended  
30 April 2019

Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income 
For The Year Ended 30 April 2019

NOTE 2019 2018

($m) ($m)

Revenue 5 206.4 215.9

Trading Profit 4 (1.9) (9.9)

Loss Before Taxation (1.9) (9.9)

Taxation 8 0.2 2.7

Loss For The Year (1.7) (7.2)

Loss For The Year (1.7) (7.2)

Adoption of NZ IFRS 9 (0.4) –

Items That May Be Reclassified Subsequently to Profit or Loss

Cash Flow Hedges – Fair Value Gains/(Losses) Taken To 
Cash Flow Hedge Reserve

 
 18 0.5 0.7

Cash Flow Hedges – Deferred Tax 15 (0.1) (0.2)

Total Other Comprehensive Income 0.4 0.5

Total Comprehensive Income For The Period Attributable 
To Members Of The Company (1.7) (6.7)

Earnings Per Share For Profit Attributable To Equity Holders:  
Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share (cents)

20 (3.2) (13.6)

The above consolidated statements of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of  
Changes in Equity For The Year Ended  
30 April 2019

SHARE
CAPITAL

HEDGING 
RESERVES

RETAINED 
EARNINGS

TOTAL  
EQUITY

($m) ($m ) ($m) ($m)

Balance 1 May 2017 10.7 (0.8) 43.0 52.9

Profit For The Year – – (7.2) (7.2)

Cash Flow Hedges – Fair Value Gains/(Losses) 
Taken To Cash Flow Hedge Reserve – 0.7 – 0.7

Cash Flow Hedges – Deferred Tax – (0.2) – (0.2)

Total Comprehensive Income For Period – 0.5 (7.2) (6.7)

Subtotal 10.7 (0.3) 35.8 46.2

Dividends Paid – – (1.9) (1.9)

Balance 30 April 2018 10.7 (0.3) 33.9 44.3

Adoption of NZ IFRS 9 – – (0.4) (0.4)

Loss For The Year – – (1.7) (1.7)
Cash Flow Hedges – Fair Value Gains/(Losses) 
Taken 
To Cash Flow Hedge Reserve

– 0.5 – 0.5

Cash Flow Hedges – Deferred Tax – (0.1) – (0.1)

Total Comprehensive Income For Period – 0.4 (2.1) (1.7)

Balance 30 April 2019 10.7 0.1 31.8 42.6

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



NOTE 2019 2018

($m) ($m)

Cash And Cash Equivalents 9 6.4 6.2

Trade And Other Receivables 10 7.4 14.3

Inventories 11 34.8 30.2

Finance Business Receivables 12 65.8 68.2

Property, Plant And Equipment 13 5.6 6.8

Intangible Assets 14 2.0 2.1

Deferred Taxation 15 8.0 7.7

TOTAL ASSETS 130.0 135.5

Trade And Other Payables 16 22.4 30.3

Loans and Borrowings 17 65.0 60.9

TOTAL LIABILITIES 87.4 91.2

NET ASSETS 42.6 44.3

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS

Share Capital 18 10.7 10.7

Other Reserves 18 0.1 (0.3)

Retained Earnings 31.8 33.9

TOTAL EQUITY 42.6 44.3

Net Tangible Assets Per Share (cents) 77 cents 80 cents

Dated 1 July 2019

A G KERR  T D ALLISON 
CHAIRMAN  AUDIT COMMITTEE CHAIRMAN

Consolidated Statement of  
Financial Position As At 30 April 2019

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
For The Year Ended 30 April 2019

     NOTE 2019 2018

($m) ($m)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

CASH WAS PROVIDED FROM:

Receipts From Customers 202.6 198.8

Interest Received – Finance Business 5.2 4.8

Interest Received – Other 0.1 0.1

Total Cash Flows From Operating Activities 207.9 203.7

CASH WAS APPLIED TO:

Payments To Suppliers And Employees (211.1) (201.4)

Income Tax Paid – (0.6)

Interest Paid – Finance Business (2.8) (3.0)

Interest Paid – Other – (0.1)

Total Cash Flows Applied To Operating Activities (213.9) (205.1)

NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (6.0) (1.4)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

CASH WAS PROVIDED FROM:

Repayment Of Advances From Customers 3.8 –

Total Cash Flows From Investing Activities 3.8 –

CASH WAS APPLIED TO:

Advances to Customers – (5.1)

Purchase Of Property, Plant And Equipment (1.7) (5.0)

Total Cash Flows Applied to Investing Activities (1.7) (10.1)

NET CASH INFLOW / (OUTFLOW) FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 2.1 (10.1)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

CASH WAS APPLIED TO / RECEIVED FROM:

Loans and Borrowings 4.1 7.6

Dividends Paid                                                                                                  19 – (1.9)

NET CASH INFLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 4.1 5.7

Net Inflow / (Outflow) In Cash And Cash Equivalents Held       0.2 (5.8)

Cash And Cash Equivalents At Beginning Of Period                                    9 6.2 12.0

Cash And Cash Equivalents At End Of Period       9 6.4 6.2



The following are the definitions of the terms used in the statements of cash flows:

• Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and on call bank deposits.

• Investing activities are those activities relating to the acquisition, holding and disposal of property, plant 
and equipment along with advances and repayments from finance business customers.

• Financing activities are those activities which result in changes in the size and composition of the capital 
structure of the Group. This includes both equity and debt not falling within the definition of cash. 
Dividends paid are included in financing activities.

• Operating activities include all transactions and other events that are not investing or financing activities.

Consolidated Statement of  
Cash Flows (continued) For The Year 
Ended 30 April 2019

2019 2018

($m) ($m)

RECONCILIATION OF NET PROFIT WITH CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss Before Taxation (1.9) (9.9)

Add Depreciation, Amortisation And Impairment                            4.6 2.7

2.7 (7.2)

Add / (Deduct) Movements In Working Capital

Add Decrease (Increase) In Receivables (0.1) (4.2)

Add Decrease (Increase) In Inventories (2.6) 6.1

Add Increase (Decrease) In Accounts Payable And Provisions (6.0) 3.9

Movements In Working Capital (8.7) 5.8

NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (6.0) (1.4)

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes To The Financial Statements
1. REPORTING ENTITY 
Smiths City Group Limited (“the Company”) is a Company domiciled in New Zealand, registered under the Companies 
Act 1993 and listed on the New Zealand Stock Exchange (“NZX”). The company is a Financial Markets Conduct (“FMC”) 
Reporting Entity under the Financial Markets Conduct Act 2013.

The financial statements of Smiths City Group Limited for the year ended 30 April 2019 comprise the Company and 
its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”). The consolidated financial statements were approved by the 
Board of Directors on 1 July 2019.

Smiths City Group Limited is primarily involved in the retailing of consumer electronic products, kitchen appliances, 
home heating solutions and home furnishings together with the provision of finance to support the retailing 
operations.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
a) Statement of Compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with New Zealand Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice (NZGAAP). They comply with the New Zealand equivalent to International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“NZIFRS”) and other applicable Financial Reporting Standards, as appropriate, of profit oriented 
entities. The financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

b) Basis of Measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for derivative financial 
instruments which are measured at fair value (refer Note 21).

c) Functional and Presentation Currency
The financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars ($) which is the functional currency of the Group. 
All financial information presented in New Zealand dollars has been rounded to the nearest million unless 
otherwise stated.

d) Use of Estimates and Judgements
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most 
significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements are: 

• The probability of default constitutes a key input in measuring expected credit losses for finance receivables. 
Probability of default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon, the calculation of 
which includes historical data, assumptions and expectations of future economic conditions. 

• Unearned income on fixed instalment contracts is recognised when these contracts are assessed as likely to 
become interest bearing. This involves judgement on the probability that contracts will enter an extended 
interest bearing period. This assessment is based on historical data. Accordingly, advance releases from 
unearned income are calculated on this basis and assessed regularly by management.

• Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value and are recorded net of all volume 
rebates and settlement discounts, as disclosed in Note 11. The net realisable value of inventories is estimated, 
taking into account the most reliable evidence available at reporting date. The future realisation of these 
inventories may be affected by market-driven changes that may reduce future selling prices.

• The extent to which deferred tax assets, disclosed in Note 15, can be recognised is based on an assessment 
of the probability that future taxable income will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences and tax loss carry-forwards can be utilised. 

• Onerous contracts are recognised when the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the 
contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it, as disclosed in Note 16. Estimation 
uncertainty relates to assumptions about future outcomes of plans to mitigate the level of unavoidable cost 
or improvements to minimise net costs. 

• In assessing impairment of intangible assets, management estimates the recoverable amount of each asset 
or cash generating unit based on expected future cash flows and uses an interest rate to discount them. 
Estimation uncertainty relates to assumptions about future operating results and the determination of a 
suitable discount rate.

• Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date, based on 
the expected utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to technological obsolescence that 
may change the utility of certain software and IT equipment.



Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 

3) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Except for the adoption of two new accounting standards (NZ IFRS 9 and 15), the accounting policies set out below 
have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements, and have been applied 
consistently by Group entities.

a) Basis of Consolidation
The Group’s financial statements consolidate those of the parent company and all of its subsidiaries as at 30 
April 2019. All subsidiaries have a reporting date of 30 April. 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. 

Intra-group balances and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions are 
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

b) Foreign Currency Transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are converted to NZD at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions 
unless the transactions are hedged by foreign currency derivative instruments. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the 
exchange rate at that date.  All exchange gains and losses are recognised in the income statement in the period 
that they arise, except for qualifying cash flow hedges, which are recognised in other comprehensive income.

c) Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s balance sheet when the Group becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets are no longer recognised if the Group’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
financial assets expire or if the Group transfers the financial asset to another party without retaining control 
or substantially all risks and rewards of the asset. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are 
accounted for at trade date – i.e.: the date that the Group commits itself to purchase or sell the asset. Financial 
liabilities are no longer recognised if the Group’s obligations specified in the contract expire or are discharged or 
cancelled.

 Classification and Initial Measurement of Financial Assets
Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are measured 
at the transaction price in accordance with NZ IFRS 15, all financial assets are initially measured at fair value 
adjusted for transaction costs (where applicable). 

Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as hedging instruments, are classified into the 
following categories: 

• amortised cost 

• fair value through profit or loss “FVTPL”

• fair value through other comprehensive income “FVOCI”. 

The classification is determined by both: 

• the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset 

• the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

In the periods presented the Group does not have any financial assets categorised as FVTPL or FVOCI.

 Subsequent Measurement of Financial Assets 
Financial Assets at Amortised Cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not 
designated as FVTPL): 

• they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its 
contractual cash flows 

• the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Discounting 
is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents, finance 
receivables, trade and most other receivables fall into this category of financial instruments.

 Classification and Measurement of Financial Liabilities 
The Group’s financial liabilities include borrowings, trade and other payables and derivative financial instruments. 
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs 
unless the Group designated a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss.
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Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method except for 
derivatives and financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, which are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or 
losses recognised in profit or loss (other than derivative financial instruments that are designated and effective as 
hedging instruments). 

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair value that are reported in profit or 
loss are included within finance costs or finance income.

 Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedge Accounting
Derivative financial instruments are accounted for at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL) except for 
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in cash flow hedge relationships, which require a specific 
accounting treatment. To qualify for hedge accounting, the hedging relationship must meet all of the following 
requirements: 

• There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument

• The effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship

• The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item 
that the entity actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that entity actually uses to hedge 
that quantity of hedged item.

To the extent that the hedge is effective, changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as hedging 
instruments in cash flow hedges are recognised in other comprehensive income and included within the hedging 
reserve in equity. Any ineffectiveness on the hedge relationship is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

d) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
The income statement and statement of cash flow have been prepared exclusive of GST. All items in the balance 
sheet are stated net of GST with the exception of trade and finance receivables and trade payables, which 
include GST invoiced.

e) New Accounting Policies
The accounting policies applied are consistent with those of the annual financial statements for the year ended 
30 April 2018, as described in those financial statements, except for the effects of applying NZ IFRS 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers and NZ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.

f) New Standards and Interpretations 
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods 
beginning after 1 May 2018. Those which are relevant to the Group are set out below with updated accounting 
policies as necessary.

 NZ IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
NZ IFRS 15 applies to all revenue arising from contracts with customers, unless the contracts are in the scope of 
other standards. The new standard establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts 
with customers. Under NZ IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an 
entity expects to be entitled in the exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.

The adoption of NZ IFRS 15 did not have any material effect for the Group, and no restatement to the prior year 
was made. The Group’s major revenue streams under NZ IFRS 15 are the sale of goods and installation of sold 
products. 

Sale of Goods

The Group’s contracts with customers for the sale of goods generally include a performance obligation. The 
Group has concluded that revenue from sale of goods should be recognised at the point in time when control of 
the asset is transferred to the customer, generally at the point of sale.

Rendering of Services 

The Group often installs sold products for customers with a specific performance obligation. Each of the 
performance obligations is recognised at a point in time relevant to the services that have been performed.

 NZ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
NZ IFRS 9 applies to the accounting for financial instruments. The adoption of NZ IFRS 9 resulted in changes in 
accounting policies and adjustments to the impairment allowance for finance receivables recognised in the 
financial statements. The new accounting policies are set out in the sections below along with the impact to the 
financial statements.

When adopting NZ IFRS 9, the Group has applied transitional relief and opted not to restate prior periods. 
Differences arising from the adoption of IFRS 9 in relation to impairment are recognised in retained earnings.

Classification and Measurement

NZ IFRS 9 impacts the following classification of financial instruments:

• Cash and cash equivalents

• Trade and other receivables

• Finance Business receivables



From 1 May 2018 the Group classifies its financial assets as being measured at amortised cost. Until April 2018 the 
Group classified its financial assets as loans and receivables. There was no change in the carrying value of the 
financial assets as a result of reclassification.

At initial recognition, the Group measures its financial instruments at its fair value plus transaction cost that are 
directly attributed to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability. The Group subsequently 
measures all financial instruments, with the exception of derivatives, at amortised cost.

Impairment of Financial Assets

From 1 May 2018 the Group assessed on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its 
financial assets carried at amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk.

The Group considers a broad range of information when assessing credit risk and measuring external credit 
losses, including past events, current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the 
expected collectability of the future cash flows of the instrument.

For financial assets (excluding trade and other receivables), a distinction is made between two categories:

• Financial assets that are not yet contractually due; and

• Financial assets that are contractually due and have not yet been repaid in full or gone into stop credit.

'12 month expected credit losses’ are recognised for the first category while ‘lifetime expected credit losses’ are 
recognised for the latter category. Measurement of the expected credit losses is determined by an estimate of 
credit losses over the expected life of the financial instrument.

For trade and other receivables the Group makes use of a simplified approach, as permitted by NZ IFRS 9, and 
records the loss allowances as lifetime expected credit losses from that recognition. This is expected credit 
losses that result from all possible default events over the life of the financial instrument. No expected credit loss 
adjustment at 1 May 2018 has been made under NZ IFRS 9 for trade and other receivables.

Finance assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indication that there is no 
reasonable expectation of recovery includes, among others, collection procedures have proved unsuccessful, 
the occurrence of significant changes in borrower’s position such that the borrower can no longer pay back the 
obligation, or that the proceeds from collections and/ or insurance claims will not be sufficient to pay back the 
entire obligation.

Finance Receivables

The Group’s finance receivables are subject to NZ IFRS 9’s expected credit loss model. To measure credit 
losses, finance receivables have been grouped and reviewed based on ageing of outstanding balances. The 
geographical region in which the customer resides and up to date unemployment rates for those regions have 
also been taken into consideration. The expected credit loss has been calculated by considering the impact of 
the following characteristics:

Fixed Instalment Contracts

• Fixed instalment contracts are grouped into when loans are due to be repaid in full by each geographical 
region. 

• Historic write-offs by geographical region have been used to determine collectability of loans in the years 
subsequent to their initial creation.

• The historic write-off rates are then used to determine the probability of future write-offs for loans not yet due.

• For loans past due, historic collection rates by geographical region for loans collected after their due date 
have been used to determine recoverable amounts. Loans past due and considered to have significant credit 
risk are discounted for the time value using the effective interest rate for each contract. 

Revolving Credit Contracts

• Revolving Credit contracts are grouped into when facilities have gone into stop credit by geographical 
region. These are determined to have significant credit risk.

• Historic write-offs by geographical region have been used to determine collectability against historic 
balances which have gone into stop credit.

• No time value adjustment has been made due to interest charged on outstanding balances until they are 
repaid.

The expected credit loss allowance for finance receivables as at 30 April 2018 as reported in the annual report 
reconciles to the opening expected credit loss allowance on 1 May 2018 as follows:

NZ IAS 39  
Carrying Amount  

30 April 2018 Reclassification

NZ IFRS 9  
Carrying Amount  

1 May 2018
($m) ($m) ($m)

Fixed Instalment Contracts 0.6 – 0.6

Revolving Credit Contracts 0.3 0.6 0.9

Total Carrying Amounts and Reclassifications 0.9 0.6 1.5
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The reclassification of $0.6m to the opening expected credit loss allowance has had a $0.4m reduction in 
opening retained earnings and a $0.2m increase in the deferred tax asset.

Hedging 

For the reporting periods under review, the Group has designated forward currency contracts and interest 
rate swaps as hedging instruments in cash flow hedge relationships. All previous hedging relationships that 
were recognised at 30 April 2018 meet the criteria under NZ IFRS 9 for hedge accounting at 1 May 2018 and are 
therefore regarded as complying hedging relationships.

To qualify for hedge accounting, the hedging relationship must meet all of the following requirements:

• There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument;

• The effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship; and

• The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged 
item that the entity actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the Group actually uses 
to hedge that quantity of hedged item.

To the extent that the hedge is effective, changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as hedging 
instruments in cash flow hedges are recognised in other comprehensive income and included within the hedging 
reserve in equity. Any ineffectiveness on the hedge relationship is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

g) New Standards and Interpretations Not Yet Adopted

 NZ IFRS 16 Leases
NZ IFRS 16 Leases will result in almost all leases being recognised in the statement of financial position, as the 
distinction between operating leases and finance leases is removed. The standard is mandatory for the Group 
from 1 May 2019. 

Under NZ IFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an 
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Under NZ IAS 17, a lessee was required to make 
a distinction between an operating lease (off balance sheet) and a finance lease (on balance sheet). NZ IFRS 
16 now requires a lessee to recognise a lease liability reflecting the future lease payments and a ‘right-of-use’ 
asset for almost all lease contracts. The statement of comprehensive income will be impacted by the recognition 
of an interest expense and a depreciation expense with premise rental and vehicle lease equipment expenses 
removed altogether. 

The impact for the Group will be primarily focused on the accounting for operating leases. As at the reporting 
date, the Group has operating lease commitments of $53.1m. Upon adoption, NZ IFRS 16 will have a significant 
impact upon the Group’s statement of financial position and statement of financial performance. 

To calculate the impact of NZ IFRS 16 as at 1 May 2019, being the date of adoption, management has assessed all 
lease contracts applying judgement as follows: 

• The lease term including potential renewals for which the Group may have a right to exercise; 

• The incremental borrowing rate that is used to discount lease assets and liabilities.

As a result of the calculations and the application of judgement, management is able to quantify the potential 
impact of NZ IFRS 16 based on the current lease arrangements across the Group. Management expects that 
there will be a material impact across the following line items in the statement of financial position: 

• Recognition of right-of-use assets of $47.1m; and

• Recognition of a lease liability of $47.1m. 

The expected impact on the statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 30 April 2020 across the 
following lines items are estimated as follows: 

• Increase in finance costs (recognised as interest expense) $1.5m; 

• Increase in depreciation and amortisation expense $12.4m; and 

• Decrease in premises and office equipment expenses recognised within administration expenses $13.3m. 

Estimates are subject to change at the time of adoption and for the year ended 30 April 2020 due to: 

• Outcome of renewals under lease agreements; 

• Any changes to existing leasing arrangement; 

• New lease contracts entered into; and 

• Finalisation of management’s judgements and changes to borrowing rates. 

The implementation of NZ IFRS 16 has no cash impact to the Group as changes are limited to financial reporting 
requirements only. The Group intends to implement the simplified transition approach as defined in the standard 
for the year ended 30 April 2020 and will not restate comparative amounts for the period prior to adoption.



Retail 
Activities

Finance 
Business

Parent &  
Other

Inter- 
Segment 

Elimination
Total 

Segments
Year Ended 30 April 2019 ($m) ($m) ($m) ($m) ($m)

Revenue

External Customers 198.3 – – – 198.3

Interest Income – 8.0 – – 8.0

From Other Segments 1.8 2.6 1.9 (6.3) –

Interest Income on Bank Deposits 0.1 – – – 0.1

Segment Revenues 200.2 10.6 1.9 (6.3) 206.4

Purchases Net Of Rebates (143.1) – – – (143.1)

Operating Lease Rental Expense (15.8) – – – (15.8)

Employee Benefits (25.3) (0.9) (1.8) – (28.0)

Interest Expense – (2.8) – – (2.8)

Depreciation and Amortisation (2.6) – – – (2.6)

Other Expenses (19.0) (1.9) (1.4) 6.3 (16.0)

Segment (Loss) / Profit Before Tax (5.6) 5.0 (1.3) – (1.9)

Segment Assets 55.0 87.8 20.8 (33.6) 130.0

Segment Liabilities 64.5 66.0 6.2 (49.3) 87.4

Year Ended 30 April 2018 ($m) ($m) ($m) ($m) ($m)

Revenue

External Customers 207.9 – – – 207.9

Interest Income – 7.9 – – 7.9

From Other Segments 1.8 1.1 1.8 (4.7) –

Interest Income on Bank Deposits – 0.1 - - 0.1

Segment Revenues 209.7 9.1 1.8 (4.7) 215.9

Purchases Net Of Rebates (149.5) – – – (149.5)

Operating Lease Rental Expense (17.2) – – – (17.2)

Employee Benefits (28.9) (0.3) (1.4) – (30.6)

Interest Expense – (3.0) – – (3.0)

Depreciation and Amortisation (2.7) – – – (2.7)

Other Expenses (23.0) (2.9) (1.6) 4.7 (22.8)

Segment (Loss) / Profit Before Tax (11.6) 2.9 (1.2) – (9.9)

Segment Assets 61.3 84.3 29.6 (39.7) 135.5

Segment Liabilities 63.8 65.4 – (38.0) 91.2

4) SEGMENT INFORMATION 
The Group has two reportable operating segments within the Group, namely retail and the finance business. 
The Chief Executive is considered to be the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) in conjunction with the 
Board of Directors in terms of NZ IFRS 8 Operating Segments. These segments have been defined based on the 
reports regularly reviewed by the CODM to make strategic decisions. The parent company and other non-trading 
subsidiaries have been included for reconciling purposes in the below analysis.

The finance business segment is the financing of retail sales. This segment reflects the provision of flexible branded 
finance options to the Group’s retail customers as being considered a key and integral part of the full service offering 
of all the trading operations of the Group. 

The following is an analysis of the Group’s results by operating segment.
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5. REVENUE
2019 2018

($m) ($m)

Sale of Goods 193.7 203.3

Rendering of Services 4.6 4.6

Interest Income On Finance Business Receivables 8.0 7.9

Interest Income on Bank Deposits 0.1 0.1

206.4 215.9

ACCOUNTING POLICY - REVENUE
Revenue arises from the retail sales associated with consumer electronic products, kitchen appliances, home 
heating solutions and home furnishings together and interest income associated with the provision of finance 
to support the retailing operations.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a 5-step process: 

1  Identifying the contract with a customer

2  Identifying the performance obligations 

3  Determining the transaction price

4  Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations 

5  Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when (or as) the Group satisfies performance 
obligations by transferring the promised goods or services to its customers. This is summarised as follows:

Sale of Goods

The Group’s contracts with customers for the sale of goods generally include a performance obligation. The 
Group has concluded that revenue from sale of goods should be recognised at the point in time when control 
of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally at the point of sale.

Rendering of Services 

The Group often installs sold products for customers with a special performance obligation. Each of the 
performance obligations is recognised at a point in time relevant to the services that have been performed.

Finance income comprises interest income on Finance Business receivables and interest income on bank 
deposits. These are included as part of revenue. 

Income on Finance Receivables

Income on finance receivables is recognised using the effective interest method calculated on the net 
amount outstanding. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts the estimated future cash payments 
and receipts through the expected life of the financial asset.

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes all fees that are integral to the effective interest rate.  
All fees except those charged to customer accounts in arrears are considered to be integral to the effective 
interest rate. Fees charged to customer accounts in arrears are recognised as income at the time the fees are 
charged.

Interest Income on Bank Deposits

Interest income is recognised on a time proportionate basis using the effective interest method, which takes 
into account the effective yield on the financial asset.



7. INTEREST EXPENSE
2019 2018

($m) ($m)

Included in Trading Profit

Interest Expense On Borrowings 2.8 3.0

Interest Expense - Other – 0.1

2.8 3.1

ACCOUNTING POLICY – EXPENSES
Operating expenses are recognised in profit or loss upon utilisation of the service or as incurred.

Short term employee benefit obligations, including holiday pay entitlements are measured on an 
undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided.

Deferred Landlord Contributions

Landlord contributions to fit out costs are capitalised as deferred contributions and amortised to the income 
statement over the initial period of the lease.

Leases in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as 
operating leases.  Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are 
charged to the Income Statement on a straight line basis over the term of the lease.

ACCOUNTING POLICY – INTEREST EXPENSE
Finance expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings, impairment losses recognised on financial assets 
(except for trade receivables) and losses on hedging instruments that are recognised in profit or loss. All 
borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. Note that interest expense 
is included as part of Trading Profit.

6. EXPENSES BY NATURE
The following expenses have been included in arriving at Trading Profit.

2019 2018

($m) ($m)

Purchases Net Of Rebates 143.1 149.5

Operating Lease Rental Expense 15.8 17.2

Employee Benefits 28.0 30.6

Marketing Expenses 4.3 5.9

Utilities Expenses 1.7 2.3

Insurance Expenses 1.3 1.1

Auditor’s Services 0.1 0.1

Directors’ Fees 0.3 0.3

Bad Debt Write-offs 0.3 0.2
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8.INCOME TAX EXPENSE
2019 2018

($m) ($m)

a) Income Tax Expense

 Current Tax – –

 Deferred Tax (Charge)/Credit 0.2 2.7

 Total Tax (Charge)/Credit 0.2 2.7

b) Reconciliation Of Tax Expense To Tax Rate Applicable To Profits

 Loss Before Income Tax Expense (1.9) (9.9)

 Tax at the Rate Of 28% (2018 28%) 0.5 2.8

 Non Deductible Expenditure (0.1) (0.1)

 Income Tax Under Provided in Prior Year (0.2) –

 Total Income Tax (Expense)/Credit 0.2 2.7

c) Imputation Credits

 There are no imputation credits available to equity holders of the Company.

The deferred tax charge for the current period takes into account temporary differences between the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes 
together with the movement in the Company’s estimates of future taxable profits on the basis these can be offset 
against the tax losses available. Smiths City has available carry forward tax losses of $13.4m, hence no income tax  
is payable.

 ACCOUNTING POLICY - TAXATION
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in the income 
statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is 
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation 
purposes. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary 
differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date 
and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
The effective interest rates on call and short term deposits in 2019 was 1.50% (2018 1.75%).

Refer Note 17 for details of the effective interest rate on the Bank overdraft together with security provided.

 ACCOUNTING POLICY – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and on call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable 
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of 
cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows.



11. INVENTORIES
2019 2018

($m) ($m)

Finished Goods 35.9 31.5

Write-down To Net Realisable Value (1.1) (1.3)

Net Inventories 34.8 30.2

Inventory adjustments are provided at period end for stock obsolescence. The amount of inventory sold during the 
year is reflected in cost of goods sold. The amount of inventory subject to registered reservation of title claims total 
$3.8m (2018 $2.9m).

ACCOUNTING POLICY – INVENTORY
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value and are recorded net of all volume 
rebates and settlement discounts. The cost of inventories is based on the weighted average principle, and 
includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing them to their existing locations and 
condition being the acquisition cost, freight, duty and other inward charges. Net realisable value is the 
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2019 2018
($m) ($m)

Trade Receivables 2.1 7.0

Allowance for Expected Credit Losses (0.1) (0.1)

Net Trade Receivables 2.0 6.9

Other Receivables 4.4 6.5

Derivatives 0.1 –

Taxation Receivable 0.9 0.9

Total Receivables 7.4 14.3

2019 2018

($m) ($m)

Movement in The Allowance For Expected Credit Losses: 
Opening Balance (0.1) (0.1)

Closing Balance (0.1) (0.1)

The allowance for expected credit losses relates to trade receivables with a gross carrying balance of $0.1m over 120 
days which are considered fully impaired.

ACCOUNTING POLICY – TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables comprise sales made to customers on credit through the Group’s trades based businesses 
or through the collection of purchasing volume or advertising rebates from suppliers not otherwise deducted 
from supplier’s payable accounts.

Trade and other receivables are recognised at cost less impairment losses. The fair value of trade and other 
receivables approximates their carrying value.

No interest is charged on trade and other receivables.

Impairment

The Group makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for trade and other receivables and records the 
loss allowance as lifetime expected credit losses. These are the expected shortfalls in contractual cash flows, 
considering the potential for default at any point during the life of the financial instrument. In calculating, 
the Group uses its historical experience, external indicators and forward-looking information to calculate the 
expected credit losses.
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12. FINANCE BUSINESS RECEIVABLES
2019 2018

FIXED 
INSTALMENT

REVOLVING 
CREDIT TOTAL

FIXED 
INSTALMENT

REVOLVING 
CREDIT TOTAL

($m) ($m) ($m) ($m) ($m) ($m)

Gross Finance Receivables 57.4 18.5 75.9 59.3 21.1 80.4

Provision For Unearned Income (8.6) (0.1) (8.7) (11.3) – (11.3)

48.8 18.4 67.2 48.0 21.1 69.1

Less Expected Credit Losses (0.5) (0.9) (1.4) (0.6) (0.3) (0.9)

48.3 17.5 65.8 47.4 20.8 68.2

ANALYSIS

Current Portion 26.8 6.4 33.2 25.2 7.5 32.7

Term Portion 21.5 11.1 32.6 22.2 13.3 35.5

48.3 17.5 65.8 47.4 20.8 68.2

The tables below show the movements in expected credit losses. The lifetime expected credit losses relate to finance 
receivables for which credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition but that are not credit-impaired. 
As at 30 April 2019 there were no credit-impaired finance receivables. Refer to Note 3 for further information on the 
accounting policy for determining expected credit losses.

FIXED INSTALMENT

MEASURED 
UNDER NZ 

IAS 39

12 MONTH 
EXPECTED 

CREDIT 
LOSSES

LIFETIME 
EXPECTED 

CREDIT 
LOSSES TOTAL

As at 30 April 2019 ($m) ($m) ($m) ($m)

Gross Finance Receivables – 56.9 0.5 57.4

Movement in the Allowance for Expected Credit Losses:

Opening Balance 0.6 – – 0.6
Adoption of NZ IFRS 9 (0.6) 0.4 0.2 –
Release – (0.1) – (0.1)
Closing Balance – 0.3 0.2 0.5

REVOLVING CREDIT

MEASURED 
UNDER NZ 

IAS 39

12 MONTH 
EXPECTED 

CREDIT 
LOSSES

LIFETIME 
EXPECTED 

CREDIT 
LOSSES TOTAL

As at 30 April 2019 ($m) ($m) ($m) ($m)

Gross Finance Receivables – 15.8 2.7 18.5

Movement in the Allowance for Expected Credit Losses:

Opening Balance 0.3 – – 0.3
Adoption of NZ IFRS 9 (0.3) 0.1 0.8 0.6
Release – – – –
Closing Balance – 0.1 0.8 0.9

MEASURED UNDER NZ IAS 39

FIXED 
INSTALMENT

REVOLVING 
CREDIT TOTAL

As at 30 April 2018 ($m) ($m) ($m)

Gross Finance Receivables 59.3 21.1 80.4

Movement in the Allowance for Expected Credit Losses:
Opening Balance 0.7 0.5 1.2
Release (0.1) (0.2) (0.3)

Closing Balance 0.6 0.3 0.9



ACCOUNTING POLICY – FINANCE BUSINESS RECEIVABLES
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s balance sheet when the Group 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Subsequent to initial recognition, finance business receivables are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts 
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or, where appropriate, a 
shorter period.

Please refer to Note 3 for the policy under NZ IFRS 9 for calculating the impairment of finance business 
receivables.

The table below shows the geographical split of finance business receivables:

2019 2018

FIXED 
INSTALMENT

REVOLVING 
CREDIT

FIXED 
INSTALMENT

REVOLVING 
CREDIT

% % % %

North Island 30.2 30.2 25.9 27.6

South Island 69.8 69.8 74.1 72.4

100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0

Refer to Note 21 for information on the credit risk associated with Finance Business receivables. A breakdown of 
current and non-current receivables is given as part of the liquidity risk disclosure. 

Gross finance receivables include all interest and finance related fees due under financing agreements.

The interest rate charged to customers on fixed instalment and flexible credit agreements varies. For those 
customers paying their accounts within the promotional term any interest paid is rebated to the customer and, 
accordingly, no interest is charged. However, for those customers whose accounts become interest bearing the rate 
charged is up to 23.95% per annum (2018 23.95%). Note that for contracts written since July 2016 interest is charged 
on the outstanding balance at the end of the promotional term. This has resulted in a reduction in unearned income 
compared to prior years. Interest on those fixed instalment contracts where the promotional term is the same as the 
contract term has been excluded as historical data shows that such interest is unlikely to be collected.

The finance receivables relate to products sold on deferred payment terms. There are no unguaranteed residual 
values accruing to the benefit of the Group. 

Releases from unearned income are calculated on the probability that contracts will enter an extended interest 
bearing period. This probability is assessed based on historical data.
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ACCOUNTING POLICY – PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Recognition and Measurement

Items of of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.

Subsequent Costs

The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised within the statement 
of financial performance as incurred.

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount 
of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group 
and its cost can be measured reliably.

Depreciation

Depreciation is recognised in the statement of financial performance on a straight line basis over the 
estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment. The depreciation methods for 
the current and comparative periods are as follows:

• Leasehold Improvements   12.5% - 50% straight line

• Office and computer equipment   10% - 20% straight line

13. PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT

LEASEHOLD 
IMPROVEMENTS

OFFICE & 
COMPUTER 
EQUIPMENT TOTAL

($m) ($m) ($m)

Cost

Balance 1 May 2017 10.6 24.5 35.1

Additions 2.3 1.9 4.2

Disposals (0.5) (0.4) (0.9)

Balance 30 April 2018 12.4 26.0 38.4

Balance 1 May 2018 12.4 26.0 38.4

Additions 0.8 0.3 1.1

Disposals (4.4) (5.2) (9.6)

Balance 30 April 2019 8.8 21.1 29.9

Depreciation and Impairment Costs

Balance 1 May 2017 (8.7) (22.1) (30.8)

Depreciation For The Year (0.3) (1.2) (1.5)

Disposals 0.2 0.5 0.7

Balance 30 April 2018 (8.8) (22.8) (31.6)

Balance 1 May 2018 (8.8) (22.8) (31.6)

Depreciation For The Year (0.7) (1.2) (1.9)

Disposals 4.2 5.0 9.2

Balance 30 April 2019 (5.3) (19.0) (24.3)

Carrying Amounts

At 1 May 2017 1.9 2.4 4.3

At 30 April 2018 3.6 3.2 6.8

At 1 May 2018 3.6 3.2 6.8

At 30 April 2019 3.5 2.1 5.6

Details of property, plant and equipment pledged as security is referred to in Note 17.



Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at the reporting date. 

Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Group’s property, plant and equipment are reviewed at each balance sheet 
date to determine whether there is any objective evidence of impairment.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount. A cash generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows 
that are largely independent from other assets and groups. Impairment losses directly reduce the carrying 
amount of assets and are recognised in the statement of financial performance.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value 
less costs to sell. In assessing value in use the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the asset.

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
PURCHASED 

BRANDS & 
CUSTOMER 
DATABASES 

SOFTWARE  
INCL 

DEVELOPMENT 
COSTS TOTAL

($m) ($m) ($m)

Cost

Balance 1 May 2017 2.3 6.3 8.6

Additions – – –

Additions Internally Developed – 0.7 0.7

Balance 30 April 2018 2.3 7.0 9.3

Balance 1 May 2018 2.3 7.0 9.3

Additions – – –

Additions Internally Developed – 0.7 0.7

Balance 30 April 2019 2.3 7.7 10.0

Amortisation and Impairment Costs

Balance 1 May 2017 (1.6) (4.7) (6.3)

Amortisation For The Year (0.2) (0.7) (0.9)

Balance 30 April 2018 (1.8) (5.4) (7.2)

Balance 1 May 2018 (1.8) (5.4) (7.2)

Impairment (0.1) – (0.1)

Amortisation For The Year (0.2) (0.5) (0.7)

Balance 30 April 2019 (2.1) (5.9) (8.0)

Carrying Amounts

At 1 May 2017 0.7 1.6 2.3

At 30 April 2018 0.5 1.6 2.1

At 1 May 2018 0.5 1.6 2.1

At 30 April 2019 0.2 1.8 2.0
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ACCOUNTING POLICY – INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
Finite Life Intangible Assets

Finite Life Intangible Assets comprising purchased brands acquired, customer databases and computer 
software applications are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire the customer database 
and bring to use the specific software. These costs are amortised on a straight line basis over their estimated 
useful lives.

Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised on a straight line basis over their 
estimated useful lives.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows: 

• Purchased Brands 5 - 20 years

• Customer databases   5 - 20 years 

• Computer software applications    5 years

• Development costs         5 years

• Websites 5 years   

Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an 
expense as incurred. Costs that are directly associated with the production of identifiable and unique 
software products controlled by the Group, and that will probably generate economic benefits exceeding 
costs beyond one year, are recognised as intangible assets. Costs include the software development 
employee costs.

Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Group’s intangible assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine 
whether there is any objective evidence of impairment, except that indefinite life intangible assets are tested 
annually and when impairment indicators exist.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount. A cash generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows 
that are largely independent from other assets and groups. Impairment losses directly reduce the carrying 
amount of assets and are recognised in the statement of financial performance.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value 
less costs to sell. In assessing value in use the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the asset.



ACCOUNTING POLICY – DEFERRED TAX
Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation 
purposes. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary 
differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date 
and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

A deferred tax asset has been recognised on tax losses dating back to 2004 with a large portion of the losses 
occurring in the last two years. Subsequent to 2004, the Group has had both loss making and profitable years 
with tax losses increasing to $11.4m in 2012 then reducing to $5.7m in 2017. The expectation is that the current 
tax losses of $13.4m will be utilised in the near future for which a deferred tax asset has been recognised.

15. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
In 2019 all tax losses are expected to be utilised on the basis that the Group is expected to continue to make profits 
in future years and the Group is a going concern. 

The Company has considered the level of budgeted profits to be recognised in the calculation of the deferred tax 
asset. As part of this assessment the Directors have considered the likelihood of a change in shareholding and the 
historical performance of the Company. As a result on this basis the Company considers it is probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against which tax losses can be utilised. 

Deferred Tax Assets (Liabilities)

BALANCE  
1 May 2018

Recognised in  
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income

Recognised 
in Statement 

of Financial 
Performance

BALANCE  
30 April 2019

($m) ($m) ($m) ($m)

Property, Plant And Equipment 0.2 – (0.5) (0.3)

Inventory 1.3 – (0.5) 0.8

Receivables 1.3 0.2 0.5 2.0

Derivatives 0.1 (0.1) – –

Provisions 2.9 – (1.2) 1.7

Tax Losses 1.9 – 1.9 3.8

7.7 0.1 0.2 8.0

BALANCE  
1 May 2017

Recognised in  
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income

Recognised 
in Statement 

of Financial 
Performance 

BALANCE  
30 April 2018

($m) ($m) ($m) ($m)

Property, Plant And Equipment 0.1 –         0.1         0.2 

Inventory 1.0 –         0.3         1.3 

Receivables 1.5 – (0.2)         1.3 

Derivatives 0.3 (0.2) – 0.1 

Provisions 1.0 –         1.9         2.9 

Tax Losses 1.2 –         0.7         1.9 

5.1 (0.2) 2.8 7.7

The Group has tax losses of $13.4m (2018 $7.1m) and no unrecognised temporary differences. The ability to utilise 
these tax losses in the future depends upon the generation of sufficient assessable income, shareholder continuity 
and any changes in legislation. 
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ACCOUNTING POLICY – TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade and other payables are stated at cost and the amounts represent liabilities for goods and services 
provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year, which are unpaid. These amounts are unsecured 
with the exception of those payables for which the supplier has a security interest over the inventory to which 
it relates and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation that can be estimated reliably and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to 
settle the obligation. Provisions are discounted to their present values at a pre-tax rate where the time value 
of money is material. 

A provision for an onerous lease is recognised when the Group retains a lease obligation after vacating a 
property before the expiry of the lease term, or where the Group has determined that a location is unlikely to 
return an economic benefit in excess of the cost of the lease over its remaining term, having had regard for 
the desirability of the location for retail operations, the ability to sub lease, and the optimal trading prospects. 
As at 30 April 2019 two leases were considered onerous due to the Board decision to close the sites with a 
further two considered onerous due to continuing losses. Only one new lease was considered onerous for the 
year ended 30 April 2019.

A provision has been recognised for the Employment Court ruling made on the 8 May 2018, relating to back 
pay of employee pre-work meetings.

16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
2019 2018

($m) ($m)

Trade Payables 12.8 17.1

Non Trade Payables And Accrued Expenses 5.9 6.6

Provision for Onerous Leases 3.3 4.9

Provision for Employee Back Pay (Employment Court Ruling) 0.4 1.5

Derivatives – 0.2

Closing Balance 22.4 30.3

2019 2018

($m) ($m)

Movement in The Provision For Onerous Leases: 

Opening Balance 4.9 –

Accrual 0.5 4.9

Utilisation (2.1) –

Closing Balance 3.3 4.9

2019 2018

($m) ($m)

Movement in The Provision For Employee Back Pay: 

Opening Balance 1.5 –

Reversed (0.4) –

Utilisation (1.0) –

Accrual 0.3 1.5

Closing Balance 0.4 1.5
 
The fair value of trade and other payables approximates their carrying value. No interest is paid on the payables.



17. LOANS AND BORROWINGS
The contractual terms of the Group’s interest bearing loans and borrowings is set out below. Further information 
about the Company’s exposure to interest rate and foreign currency risk is set out in Note 21. Fair value is equal to 
carrying value.

2019 2018

($m) ($m)

Secured Finance Business Loans 65.0 60.9

TOTAL INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES 65.0 60.9

Terms And Debt Repayment Schedule
Terms and conditions of outstanding loans were as follows:

NOMINAL 
INTEREST 

RATE TERM FACILITY

CARRYING 
AMOUNT 

2019 FACILITY

CARRYING 
AMOUNT  

2018
($m) ($m) ($m) ($m)

Senior Secured Facility 
(interest only)

30 Day  
BKBM plus 1.54%

See note 
below 65.0 65.0 65.0 60.9

Secured Bank Overdraft BKBM plus 0.1% See note 
below 2.0 – 2.0 –

Total Interest Bearing Liabilities 67.0 65.0 67.0 60.9

The Senior Secured Facility and Secured Bank Overdraft are provided by ASB bank under a combined Senior Facility 
Agreement secured firstly by way of fixed and floating charge over both the Finance Business Receivables and, 
secondly, over all other assets of the Group. The facility is subject to various covenants including a capital ratio. The 
expiry date of the facility is 21 June 2020

18. CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share Capital
At balance date the Group and Parent had issued and paid up capital of $10.7m (2018 $10.7m). The number of  
shares issued is 52,688,153 (2018 52,688,153). All shares are fully paid up and have equal voting and dividend rights. 
Upon winding up all shares rank equally with regard to the Group’s residual assets.

Hedging Reserve
The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow 
hedging instruments related to hedged transactions that have not yet occurred. Refer also Note 21 for details of 
foreign currency and interest rate hedging instruments.

Other Reserves
These relate to realised capital profits on disposal of assets.

ACCOUNTING POLICY – LOANS AND BORROWINGS
Loans and borrowings are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs. 
Subsequently, loans and borrowings are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Fair value is calculated based on the present value of contractual cash flows, discounted at the market rate of 
interest at the reporting date.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs 
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included as 
finance costs in the statement of financial performance.
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19. DIVIDENDS
The following dividends were declared and paid by the Group:

Cents Per Share Total Paid

2019 2018 2019 ($m) 2018 ($m)

Interim For Year Ended 30 April 2019 – – – –

Final For Year Ended 30 April 2018 – – – –

Interim For Year Ended 30 April 2018 – 1.0 – 0.5

Final For Year Ended 30 April 2017 – 2.5 – 1.4

– 3.5 – 1.9

The Directors have determined that a final dividend for the year will not be paid to ensure the cashflow is directed to 
the investment in the Group and in light of the current year result.

20. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic earnings per share at 30 April 2019 was based on the loss after tax attributable to ordinary 
shareholders of ($1.7m) (2018 ($7.2m)) and an average number of ordinary shares outstanding of 52,688,153 (2018 
52,688,153). Basic earnings per share is the same as dilutive earnings per share as there are no ordinary shares 
outstanding that have any dilutive potential.

21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Accounting Classifications and Fair Values
The Group’s classification of each class of financial assets and their fair values is set out below. Note that the only 
instruments designated at fair value are the derivative financial instruments. 

Note that the fair value of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities is not considered to be materially different to 
their carrying value.

The carrying amounts of financial instruments in each category are as follows:

ACCOUNTING POLICY – EARNINGS PER SHARE
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is 
calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit 
or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the 
effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

2019 2018

($m) ($m)

Financial Assets Measured at Amortised Cost

Cash and Cash Equivalents 6.4 6.2

Trade Receivables 2.0 5.6

Other Receivables 3.5 6.9

Finance Business Receivables 65.8 68.2

Derivatives Measured at Fair Value

Forward Exchange Contracts and Interest Rate Swaps 0.1 –

77.8 86.9

Financial Liabilities Measured at Amortised Cost

Trade Payables 12.8 17.1

Non Trade Payables and Accrued Expenses 1.9 1.5

Loans and Borrowings 65.0 60.9

Derivatives Measured at Fair Value

Forward Exchange Contracts and Interest Rate Swaps – 0.2

79.7 79.7



The Group is exposed to various risks in relation to financial instruments. The main types of risks are market risk, credit 
risk and liquidity risk. The most significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed are described below.

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations and arises principally from the Group’s trade and finance receivables. Please refer to Note 3 for further 
detail on risk associated with expected credit losses.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk represents the Group’s ability to meet is contractual obligations. The Group evaluates its liquidity risk 
on an ongoing basis. Day to day funding requirements and future cash flows are monitored to ensure requirements 
can be met. In general, the Group generates sufficient cash flows from its operating activities to meet its obligations 
arising from its financial liabilities and has credit lines in place to cover shortfalls.  Furthermore the Group maintains 
strong bank relationships and committed bank credit facilities.

Market Risk
The Group enters into derivative arrangements in the ordinary course of business to manage foreign currency and 
interest rate risks. The Board of Directors provides oversight for risk management and derivative activities. This 
includes determining the Group’s financial risk policies and objectives, guidelines for derivative instrument utilisation, 
procedures for control and valuation, risk analysis, counterparty credit approval and ongoing monitoring and 
reporting.

Foreign Currency Risk
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risks on purchases that are denominated in a currency other than the 
Company’s functional currency, New Zealand Dollars ($), which is the presentation currency of the Group. The 
overseas currency in which transactions are denominated is US Dollars (USD). The Group hedges up to 100% of its 
estimated foreign currency exposure in respect of forecasted purchases over the following 12 months. The Group 
uses forward exchange contracts to hedge its foreign currency risk. Most of the forward exchange contracts have 
maturities of less than one year at the balance sheet date.

The fair value of forward exchange contracts is based on broker quotes. If a quote is not available then fair value is 
estimated by discounting the difference between the contractual forward price and the current forward price for the 
residual maturity of the contract using a risk free interest rate (based on government bonds).

Interest Rate Risk
The Group has a policy of ensuring that interest rate hedging, based on forecast external borrowings, should be in 
place as follows:

• Committed Cash Advance Facilities less than 6 months – no hedging required

• Committed Cash Advance Facilities 6 to 12 months – 25% to 75% fixed rate cover

• Borrowings in excess of 12 months – 50% to 75% fixed rate cover to a maximum term of 3 years ahead

The above policy is in place to provide cash flow and cost certainty for the Group as relates to external borrowings. 
At the present time the Group is outside this policy due to the low interest rate environment and premium associated 
with taking out interest rate swaps. This is regularly monitored and independent advice is provided on a monthly 
basis to provide further analysis on interest rate risk.

The fair value of interest rate swaps currently in place is based on broker quotes. Those quotes are tested for 
reasonableness by discounting estimated future cash flows on the terms and maturity of each contract and using 
market interest rates for a similar instrument at the measurement date.

Other Market Price Risks
The Group is not exposed to substantial other market price risk arising from financial instruments.



61Annual Report 2019

QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURES
Credit Risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the Group’s maximum credit exposure. The Group’s material 
credit risk arises from finance receivables. The Group has not renegotiated the term of any financial assets which 
would result in the carrying amount no longer being past due or avoid a possible past due status. The Group has not 
restructured financial assets. An analysis of credit risk is highlighted in the past due status presented below:

Trade Receivables 

GROSS RECEIVABLE
2019

GROSS RECEIVABLE
2018

($m) ($m)

Not Past Due 0.1 6.0

Past Due 1-30 Days 0.5 0.5

Past Due 31-60 Days 0.7 0.2

Past Due Over 61 Days 0.8 0.3

2.1 7.0

Fixed Instalment Receivables

2019 2018

ACCOUNT  
BALANCE 

%

ACCOUNT 
BALANCE

($m)

ACCOUNT  
BALANCE

 %

ACCOUNT  
BALANCE 

($m)

Current 89.2 43.5 89.6 43.0

1 Month Overdue 5.3 2.6 4.6 2.2

2 Month Overdue 2.0 1.0 1.7 0.8

3 Month Overdue 0.6 0.3 0.6 0.3

Over 3 Month Overdue 2.9 1.4 3.5 1.7

100.0 48.8 100.0 48.0

Revolving Credit Receivables

2019 2018

ACCOUNT 
BALANCE 

%

ACCOUNT
BALANCE

($m)

ACCOUNT 
BALANCE

 %

EXPECTED  
CREDIT LOSSES 

($m)

Current 73.4 13.5 75.8 16.0

1 Month Overdue 16.8 3.1 16.1 3.4

2 Month Overdue 4.9 0.9 3.8 0.8

3 Month Overdue 1.6 0.3 1.0 0.2

Over 3 Month Overdue 3.3 0.6 3.3 0.7

100.0 18.4 100.0 21.1

Collateral
The Group is able to repossess goods supplied on all its consumer loans and in certain cases holds registered 
security interests and guarantees.



LIQUIDITY RISK 
The following table sets out the contractual cash flows for all financial assets, liabilities and derivatives that are 
settled on a gross cash flow basis. Note the table below excludes inventory. 

Residual Contractual Maturities Of Financial Assets And Liabilities
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($m) ($m) ($m) ($m) ($m) ($m)

2019

Non Derivative Assets

Cash And Cash Equivalents 6.4 6.4 6.4 – – –

Trade Receivables 2.0 2.0 2.0 – – –

Other Receivables 3.5 3.5 3.5 – – –

Fixed Instalment Receivables 48.3 57.2 16.9 14.8 20.1 5.4

Revolving Credit Receivables * 17.5 60.2 3.2 3.0 5.5 48.5

Total Non Derivative Assets 77.7 129.3 32.0 17.8 25.6 53.9

* Note based on minimum repayment profile of these receivables.

Non Derivative Liabilities

Loan and Borrowings (65.0) (67.5) (1.1) (1.1) (65.3) –

Trade Payables (12.8) (12.8) (12.8) – – –

Non Trade Payables And Accruals (1.9) (1.9) (1.9) – – –

Total Non Derivative Liabilities (79.7) (82.2) (15.8) (1.1) (65.3) –

Interest Rate Swaps – In Flow 0.1 0.1 0.1 – – –

Forward Exchange Contracts – Out Flow – – – – – –

TOTAL (1.9) 47.2 16.3 16.7 (39.7) 53.9

2018

Non Derivative Assets

Cash And Cash Equivalents 6.2 6.2 6.2 – – –

Trade And Other Receivables 6.9 6.9 6.9 – – –

Other Receivables 5.6 5.6 5.6 – – –

Fixed Instalment Receivables 47.4 59.9 17.2 15.9 21.7 5.1

Revolving Credit Receivables * 20.8 61.5 3.6 3.4 6.2 48.3

Total Non Derivative Assets 86.9 140.1 39.5 19.3 27.9 53.4

* Note based on minimum repayment profile of these receivables.

Non Derivative Liabilities

Loan and Borrowings (60.9) (63.1) (1.3) (61.8) – –

Trade Payables (17.1) (17.1) (17.1) – – -

Non Trade Payables And Accruals (1.5) (1.5) (1.5) – – –

Total Non Derivative Liabilities (79.5) (81.7) (19.9) (61.8) – –

Interest Rate Swaps – Out Flow (0.2) (0.2) (0.2) – – –

Forward Exchange Contracts – Out Flow – – – – – –

TOTAL (7.2) 58.2 19.4 (42.5) 27.9 53.4

The contractual maturity of financial assets and liabilities is shown above. However, the Group’s expected cash flows 
on these instruments, specifically fixed instalment receivables, vary significantly from their contractual cash flows.
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($m) ($m) ($m) ($m) ($m)

GROUP 2019

Fixed Instalment Receivables 48.3 14.5 12.5 16.9 4.4

GROUP 2018

Fixed Instalment Receivables 47.4 13.7 11.5 15.6 6.6

The only expected difference in maturity is in relation to fixed instalment receivables.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk can be summarised as follows:
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($m) ($m) ($m) ($m)

Outstanding Contracts

Buy US Dollars

Less Than 3 Months 0.68 0.71 0.6 0.8 – –

3-6 Months 0.68 0.71 4.0 0.9 – –

6-12 Months – 0.70 – 0.8 – –

The Group has no significantly unhedged foreign currency exposures.

The value of forward exchange contracts outstanding are recognised in trade and other payables. Cash flow hedge 
accounting has been adopted.

INTEREST RATE RISK
Interest Rate Swap Contracts 
Under the interest rate swap contracts, the Group agrees to exchange the difference between fixed and floating 
rate interest amounts calculated on agreed notional principal amounts. Such contracts enable the Group to 
mitigate the risk of changing interest rates on debt held. The fair value of interest rate swaps are based on market 
values of equivalent instruments at reporting date.

A
V

ER
A

G
E 

C
O

N
TR

A
C

T 
FI

XE
D

 
IN

TE
RE

ST
 R

AT
E 

20
19

AV
ER

A
G

E 
C

O
N

TR
A

C
T 

FI
XE

D
 

IN
TE

R
ES

T 
R

AT
E 

20
18

N
O

TI
O

N
A

L 
PR

IN
C

IP
A

L 
A

M
O

U
N

T 
20

19

N
O

TI
O

N
A

L 
PR

IN
C

IP
A

L 
A

M
O

U
N

T 
20

18

FA
IR

 V
A

LU
E 

20
19

FA
IR

 V
A

LU
E 

20
18

($m) ($m) ($m) ($m

Outstanding Contracts

Variable Rate For Fixed Contracts

Less Than 1 Year – 4.74% – 20.2 – (0.2)

1-2 Years – – – – – –

More Than 2 Years 2.49% 2.49% 2.6 6.0 0.1 –

2.6 26.2 0.1 (0.2)

Expected Maturities Of Financial Assets And Liabilities



Interest Rate Risk – Repricing Analysis 
The table below summarises the Group’s exposure to interest rate risks. It includes the Group’s financial instruments 
at carrying amounts categorised by the earlier of their contractual repricing or expected maturity dates.

Note – the interest rate on fixed instalment receivables is fixed at the time the contract is entered into and is not 
repriced thereafter. Hence they are not included in the tables below:
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GROUP 2019 ($m) ($m) ($m) ($m) ($m) ($m)

Financial Assets

Cash And Cash Equivalents 1.50% 6.4 – – – – 6.4

Trade Receivables – – – – – 2.0 2.0

Other Receivables – – – – – 3.5 3.5

Revolving Credit Receivables 23.95% 17.5 – – – – 17.5

Effective of Interest Rate Derivatives 2.6 – – (2.6) – –

26.5 – – (2.6) 5.5 29.4

Financial Liabilities

Trade Payables – – – – (12.8) (12.8)

Non Trade Payables and Accruals – – – – (1.9) (1.9)

Loans and Borrowings BKBM plus 1.54% (65.0) – – – – (65.0)

(65.0) – – – (14.7) (79.7)

TOTAL (38.5) – – (2.6) (9.2) (50.3)

GROUP 2018

Financial Assets

Cash And Cash Equivalents 1.75% 6.2 – – – – 6.2

Trade Receivables – – – – – 6.9 6.9

Other Receivables – – – – – 5.6 5.6

Revolving Credit Receivables 23.95% 20.8 – – – – 20.8

27.0 – – – 12.5 39.5

Financial Liabilities

Trade Payables – – – – (17.1) (17.1)

Non Trade Payables and Accruals – – – – (1.5) (1.5)

Loans and Borrowings BKBM plus 1.54% (60.9) – – – – (60.9)

Effect of Interest Rate Derivatives 6.1 (0.1) – (6.0) – –

(54.8) (0.1) - (6.0) (18.6) (79.5)

TOTAL (27.8) (0.1) - (6.0) (6.1) (40.0)

Capital Management
The Group’s capital includes share capital, reserves and retained earnings.

The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and 
to sustain future development of the business. The impact of the level of capital on shareholders’ funds is also 
recognised and the Group recognises the need to maintain a balance between the higher returns that may be 
possible with greater gearing and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position.

Other than covenants and capital ratios as referred to in Note 17 the Group is not exposed to any externally imposed 
capital requirements.

The allocation of capital between its specific business segment operations and activities is, to a large extent, driven 
by optimisation of the return achieved on the capital allocated. The process of allocating capital to specific business 
segment operations and activities is undertaken independently of those responsible for the operation.

The Group’s responsibilities in respect of capital management and allocation are reviewed regularly by the Board of 
Directors. There have been no material changes in the Group’s management of capital during the period.
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HEDGING
Interest Rate Hedges
The Group has a policy of ensuring that interest rate hedging, based on forecast external borrowings, should be in 
place as follows:

• Committed Cash Advance Facilities less than 6 months – no hedging required

• Committed Cash Advance Facilities 6 to 12 months – 25% to 75% fixed rate cover

• Borrowings in excess of 12 months – 50% to 75% fixed rate cover to a maximum term of 3 years ahead

The above policy is in place to provide cash flow and cost certainty for the Group as relates to external borrowings. 
At the present time the Group is outside this policy due to the low interest rate environment and premium associated 
with taking out interest rate swaps. This is regularly monitored and independent advice is provided on a monthly 
basis to provide further analysis on interest rate risk.

Interest rate swaps have previously been entered into to reduce the risk of exposure for the Group. At 30 April 2019 
the Group had an interest rate swap with a notional contract amount of $2.6m (2018 $26.2m).The current swap 
matures within the next three years and has a fixed swap rate of 2.49% (2018 2.5% to 4.75%).  The Group classifies 
interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges.

The net fair value of swaps at 30 April 2019 was $0.1m (2018 $0.2m) comprising assets of $0.1m (2018 $nil) and liabilities 
of $nil (2018 $0.2m). 

Forecast Transactions
The Group classifies its forward exchange contracts hedging forecast transactions as cash flow hedges. The net 
fair value of forward exchange contracts used as hedges of forecast transactions at 30 April 2019 was $nil (2018 $nil) 
comprising assets of $nil (2018 $nil) and liabilities of $nil (2018 $nil).  The exchange rate used to calculate the fair value 
of forward exchange contracts at 30 April 2019 was US$0.6797 (2018 US$0.7079).

Interest Rates Used for Determining Fair Value
The following interest rates used to discount estimated cash flows, where applicable, are based on the government 
yield curve at the reporting date plus an appropriate constant credit spread:

2019 2018

Derivatives Held For Risk Management 2.49% 2.5% - 4.75%



Financial Instrument Carried At Fair Value

Fair Value Hierarchy
The table below analyses recurring fair value measurements for financial assets and financial liabilities. These fair 
value measurements are categorised into different levels in the fair value hierarchy based on the inputs to valuation 
techniques used. The different levels are defined as follows:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access at 
the measurement date.

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly or indirectly.

Level 3: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

There has been no movement between levels of fair value hierarchy during the year ended 30 April 2019.

30 April 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Other Investments, Including Derivatives

Forward Exchange Contract Used For Hedging – – – –

Interest Rate Swaps Used For Hedging – 0.1 – –

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS CARRIED AT FAIR VALUE – 0.1 – –

Trade and Other Payables:

Forward Exchange Contracts Used For Hedging – – – –

Interest Rate Swaps Used For Hedging – – – –

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES CARRIED AT FAIR VALUE – – – –

30 April 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Other Investments, Including Derivatives

Forward Exchange Contract Used For Hedging – – – –

Other Investments, Including Derivatives – – – –

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS CARRIED AT FAIR VALUE – – – –

Trade and Other Payables:

Forward Exchange Contract Used For Hedging – – – –

Interest Rate Swaps Used For Hedging – 0.2 – 0.2

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES CARRIED AT FAIR VALUE – 0.2 – 0.2

Level 2 fair values for simple over the counter derivative financial instruments are based on observable market data 
which is tested for reasonableness and which reflects the credit risk of the instrument and include adjustments to 
take account of the credit risk of the Group entity and counterparty when appropriate.

Specific valuation techniques used to determine fair value financial instruments include:

• The fair value of foreign exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange rates at the  
balance sheet date

• The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future  
cash flows based on observables yield curves.
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Interest Rate Sensitivity
The Group’s sensitivity to interest rate risk can be expressed in two ways:

1)  Fair Value Sensitivity Analysis
A change in interest rates impacts the fair value of the Group’s fixed rate assets and liabilities and its interest rate 
swaps. Fair value changes impact on profit or loss or equity only where the instruments are carried at fair value. 
Accordingly, the fair value sensitivity to a 100 basis point movement in interest rates (based on the assets and 
liabilities held at balance date) is as follows:

2019 2019 2018 2018

Impact On  
Profit Or Loss

+1%
($m)

Impact On 
Equity

-1%
($m)

Impact On
 Profit Or Loss

+1%
($m)

Impact On 
Equity

-1%
($m)

Derivatives – – 0.3 (0.3)

The fair value sensitivity to movements greater or less than the 100 basis point movement above approximates to a 
multiple of the impact stated above – i.e.: a 200 point movement would double these figures.

2) Cash Flow Sensitivity Analysis
A change in interest rates would also impact on interest payments and receipts on the Group’s floating rate 
assets and liabilities. Accordingly, the one year cash flow sensitivity to a 100 basis point movement in interest 
rates (based on assets and liabilities held at balance date) is as follows:

2019 2019 2018 2018

Impact On 
Profit Or Loss

+1%
($m)

Impact On 
Equity

-1%
($m)

Impact On 
Profit Or Loss

+1%
($m)

Impact On 
Equity

-1%
($m)

Cash And Cash Equivalents 0.1 (0.1) 0.1 (0.1)

Loans and Borrowings (0.6) 0.6 (0.6) 0.6

i) Note that trade and other receivables are all denominated in NZ$ and are non-interest bearing.

ii)  Note that as finance receivables are calculated at amortised cost using their effective interest rate the 
sensitivity is based on variations against the effective interest rate and not the interest rate the customer 
would pay in accordance with the contract itself.

iii) Note that accounts payable are all denominated in NZ$ and are non-interest bearing.

 ACCOUNTING POLICY – FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Please refer to Note 3 for the Group’s financial instruments accounting policy.



 ACCOUNTING POLICY – OPERATING LEASES
The Group leases all of its stores under operating leases. The leases typically run for between three to nine 
years with options to renew the leases after that date. Lease payments are increased every three years to 
reflect either market rentals or in some cases CPI increases. The Group leases a large portion of its motor 
vehicle fleet under operating leases.

Leases in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as 
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are 
charged to the Statement of Financial Performance on a straight line basis over the term of the lease.

22. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
Note 23 identifies all material trading companies within the Group. Also presented below the Group has an 
investment in an appliance buying group by way of shares held. 

NARTA NZ LIMITED
The Group has an investment of $0.01m in Narta NZ Limited. Narta NZ Limited is an appliance buying group of which 
the Group was one of the founding members. The Group has Board representation in this Company and the Group’s 
shareholding also provides it with voting rights. However, the Group does not consider NARTA NZ Limited to be an 
associate requiring accounting under the equity method. Purchases through this buying group are settled directly 
with the suppliers concerned on normal commercial terms as are the rebates which accrue as a result of these 
transactions. The Group also received rebate income as a member from this Company totalling $1.2m for the year 
ended 30 April 2019 (2018 $0.3m). The amount owing to the Group at balance date was $0.1m (2018 $0.04m).

Subsequent to balance date the Group ceased as a member of Narta NZ Limited, receiving its full investment back 
in cash.

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION
Key management personnel compensation including Directors is summarised in the table below:

2019 2018

($m) ($m)

Employee Benefits 2.2 2.1

Employee Restructuring Costs 0.1 0.1

2.3 2.2

23. SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
The material trading subsidiary companies, all with balance dates of 30 April and all are wholly owned included in 
the consolidated accounts as at 30 April 2019 are as follows:

• Smiths City (Southern) Limited – retail 

• Smiths City Finance Limited – finance

Directors of the above subsidiaries are also Directors of Smiths City Group Limited.

All other subsidiaries are non-trading and have Mr A Kerr (Smiths City Group Chairman) as their sole director, except 
for Smiths City Properties Limited, SCG Finance Limited and Adventure Brands Limited. The Directorship of Smiths City 
Properties Limited and SCG Finance Limited includes all directors of Smiths City Group Limited. The Directorship of 
Adventure Brands Limited includes Mr R Campbell, CEO of the Group.

24. OPERATING LEASES
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

2019 2018

($m) ($m)

Less Than 1 Year 13.3 12.7

Between 1-5 Years 32.2 29.0

More Than 5 Years 5.2 9.6

50.7 51.3
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25. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The value of capital commitments at 30 April 2019 was $nil (2018 $nil).

26. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The value of contingent liabilities at 30 April 2019 was $nil (2018 $nil).  

27. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE DATE 
There are no events subsequent to balance date.
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REPORT AND FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
Your Directors are pleased to submit to shareholders 
their Report and Financial Statements for the year 
ended 30 April 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
Smiths City Group Limited is a New Zealand based 
and operated company. It has two principal 
activities being:

•  Retail Trading – the retailing of consumer 
electronic products, kitchen appliances, home 
heating solutions, home furnishings and sporting 
goods through the Smiths City brand. 

•  Finance – the provision of finance by Smiths City 
Finance Limited to support the retailing operation.

General 
Disclosures
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PROFIT / LOSS
The Group net loss after taxation was  
($1.7m) – compared with last year’s loss of ($7.2m).  
Earnings per share was (3.2 cents) compared with 
(13.6 cents) last year.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements for the Parent and Group for 
the year ended 30 April 2019 are shown on pages 30 
to 69 in this report.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES
In preparing these financial statements the 
accounting policies outlined in Note 3 to the 
financial statements have been applied.  Except 
for the adoption of two new accounting standards 
(NZ IFRS 9 and 15) there were no other significant 
changes in accounting policies during the year..

STATE OF AFFAIRS
The Directors are of the opinion that the state of 
affairs of the Group is satisfactory.  Details of the 
period under review are included in the Director’s 
Report and the audited financial statements.

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Shareholders’ equity as at 30 April 2019 was $42.6m, 
prior year $44.3m. 

DIVIDEND
The Directors have determined that a final dividend 
for the year will not be paid to ensure the cash flow 
is directed to the investment in the Group and in light 
of the current year result.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING 
THE YEAR 
The details of these are explained fully in the 
Director’s Review. 

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO 
BALANCE DATE
Significant events subsequent to balance date are 
detailed under Note 27.

REMUNERATION TO AUDITORS
The fee for the audit of the Group and subsidiaries 
paid to KPMG was $90,000 (2018 $85,000).

Fees paid to the auditors for other services provided 
amounted to $21,600 (2018 $22,400).

SHARE DEALINGS BY DIRECTORS
The company received no notices of share trading from the Directors during the current year.  
At balance date Directors (now retired) and their associates held interests in the following shares.

Balance Purchases Sales Balance

30.4.18 30.4.19

C D Boyce – retired (25.5.18) 1,668,372 - - 1,668,372

S M Henderson – retired (30.6.18) 33,000 - - 33,000



Alastair Gibson Kerr, Tony Donald Allison,  
Benjamin John Powles and Antony David Karp  
are Directors of the following companies:

• Smiths City Group Limited

• Smiths City Finance Limited

• SCG Finance Limited

• Smiths City (Southern) Limited

• Smiths City Properties Limited

Alastair Gibson Kerr is a Director of the  

following companies:

•  Debt Recovery and Legal Services Limited –  
formerly Smiths City (Auckland) Limited

• Smiths City (Nelson) Limited

• Smiths DIY (Southern) Limited

• Smiths City (Wellington) Limited

• Smiths City (Christchurch) Limited

• Quintana Investments Limited

• Powerstore Limited

• Alectra Limited

• Furniture Concepts (2004) Limited

• L V Martin & Son Limited

• Smiths City Staff Share Plan Trustee Limited 

Alastair Gibson Kerr and Roy James Campbell (CEO)  
are Directors of Adventure Brands Limited.

Directors have disclosed the following interests 
as directors, trustees, members or employees of 
companies or other entities which may have  
material dealings with the company from  
time to time as at 30 April 2019.

A G KERR
• Vet South Limited

• Here4Good Holdings Limited

• Cognition Education Limited

• Multi Serve Holdings Group Limited

• Paper Plus NZ Limited

• Gilmorehill Consulting Limited (UK)

• Drilton Limited (UK)

• J Murphy & Sons Limited (UK)

• Scottish Leather Group Limited (UK)

T D ALLISON
• Dunedin International Airport Limited

• Delta Utilities Limited

• AA Cleaners (Otago) Limited

• Visionalli Limited

• Mornington Health Centre Limited

• MHC Properties Limited

B J POWLES
• Fishpond Limited

A D KARP
• Prezzee Pty Limited

• Whites Group Pty Limited

FURTHER INFORMATION
For information on Use of Company Information 
and Insurances refer to the Corporate Governance 
Report on pages 24 to 29.

Disclosures of interest
Directors Of Related Companies  
Including Subsidiaries
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Additional
Company Information and 
Security Holder Disclosures

EXECUTIVE EMPLOYEES REMUNERATION
During the year the following numbers of employees received remuneration of at least $100,000:

Remuneration Number of employees

100,000-110,000 5

110,000-120,000 8

120,000-130,000 3

130,000-140,000 1

140,000-150,000 1

170,000-180,000 2

210,000-220,000 2

240,000-250,000 1

320,000-330,000 1

520,000-530,000 1

25

SUBSTANTIAL SECURITY HOLDERS
The following are Substantial Security Holders as at 20 June 2019 as defined by the Financial Markets Conduct Act 
2013 (refer also to details of Largest Registered Holders of Equity Securities on page 74 for further information):    

Substantial Security Holder - over 5% Number Of Securities

Donald M Campbell/Custodial Services Limited 10,374,143

Utilico Investments Limited/ NZ Central Securities Depository Limited 8,060,107

Mercantile Investment Company/One Managed Investment Funds 5,278,552

Sandon Capital Pty Limited/One Managed Investment Funds 5,251,637



20 Largest Registered Holders Of Equity 
Securities As At 20 June 2019

Ranges Number of holders Number of securities % of securities

1-1,000 219 152,517 0.29

1,001-5,000 466 1,225,175 2.33

5,001-10,000 167 1,322,585 2.50

10,001-50,000 206 4,823,886 9.16

50,001-100,000 34 2,514,905 4.77

100,001 and above 46 42,649,085 80.95

1,138 52,688,153 100.00

Country Investors Number of securities % of securities

New Zealand 1,101 41,480,158 78.73

Australia 23 10,983,817 20.85

United Kingdom 7 112,258 0.21

United States 4 106,120 0.20

France 1 800 0.00

Oman 1 4,000 0.01

Switzerland 1 1,000 0.00

1,138 52,688,153 100.00

Distribution Of Registered Holders Of 
Equity Securities As At 20 June 2019 

Holder name Balance %

Custodial Services Limited 10,374,143 19.69

New Zealand Central Securities Depository Limited 8,060,107 15.30

One Managed Investment Funds 5,278,552 10.02

One Managed Investment Funds 5,251,637 9.97

Ace Finance Limited 2,601,000 4.94

Extra Strength Number 164 Limited 1,668,372 3.17

Forsyth Barr Custodians Limited 1,192,169 2.26

Garry John Cooper 1,018,923 1.93

Errol Douglas George Scott 600,000 1.14

Russell Dillon Horlor & Anna Anastazja Horlor 550,000 1.04

Gordon Henry Boyle 351,087 0.67

John Kenneth Woodhall & Jocelyn Dawn Woodhall 300,000 0.57

John Terence Andrews 290,000 0.55

Lindsay Morton Walter 275,000 0.52

Walter Leonard Parsons Stone 273,500 0.52

Alan Dallas Bean 267,690 0.51

Prime Projects Limited 250,000 0.47

Te Iwi Carving Limited 200,000 0.38

Fapp Securities Limited 199,875 0.38

Philip Robert Briggs 187,783 0.36

TOTAL FOR 20 LARGEST 39,189,838 74.39
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Holder name Balance %

Custodial Services Limited 10,374,143 19.69

New Zealand Central Securities Depository Limited 8,060,107 15.30

One Managed Investment Funds 5,278,552 10.02

One Managed Investment Funds 5,251,637 9.97

Ace Finance Limited 2,601,000 4.94

Extra Strength Number 164 Limited 1,668,372 3.17

Forsyth Barr Custodians Limited 1,192,169 2.26

Garry John Cooper 1,018,923 1.93

Errol Douglas George Scott 600,000 1.14

Russell Dillon Horlor & Anna Anastazja Horlor 550,000 1.04

Gordon Henry Boyle 351,087 0.67

John Kenneth Woodhall & Jocelyn Dawn Woodhall 300,000 0.57

John Terence Andrews 290,000 0.55

Lindsay Morton Walter 275,000 0.52

Walter Leonard Parsons Stone 273,500 0.52

Alan Dallas Bean 267,690 0.51

Prime Projects Limited 250,000 0.47

Te Iwi Carving Limited 200,000 0.38

Fapp Securities Limited 199,875 0.38

Philip Robert Briggs 187,783 0.36

TOTAL FOR 20 LARGEST 39,189,838 74.39

Directors and Officers
Chair
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Antony David Karp
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